0-115-03533-1 **National Library** Bibliothèque nationale of Canada du Canada **Canadian Theses Division** División des thèses canadiennes Ottawa, Canada 51428 K1A 0N4 ERMISSION TO MICROFILM Please print or type — Écrire en lettres moulées ou dactylographier Full Name of Author - Nom complet de l'auteur ELSIE JOAN AMUNDSEN Country of Birth -Lieu de naissance Date of Birth - Date de naissance Vuly 21/54 anent Address - Résidence fixe CANADA General Delivery Ponota, Alberta TOC 2HO Title of Thesis - Titre de la thèse Biological Studies on Common Chickweed (Stellaria media) University --- Université University of Alberta Degree for which thesis was presented --- Grade pour lequel cette thèse fut présentée MSC Year this degree conferred - Année d'obtention de ce grade Name of Supervisor -- Nom du directeur de thèse Dr. W. H. Vanden Born. 1981 L'autorisation est, par la présente, accordée à la BIBLIOTIE Permission is hereby granted to the NATIONAL LIBRARY OF QUE NATIONALE DU CANADA de microfilmer cette thèse et de CANADA to microfilm this thesis and to lend or sell copies of prêter ou de vendre des exemplaires du film. the film. L'auteur se réserve les autres droits de publication; ni la thèse The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the ni de tongs extraits de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherautrement reproduits sans l'autorisation écrite de l'auteur. wise reproduced without the author's written permission. Signature Dete Joan amundoen April 23/81

IL-01 (4/77)

National Library of Canada Collections Development Branch

Canadian Theses on Microfiche Service Bibliothèque nationale du Canada Direction du développement des collections

Service des thèses canadiennes sur microfiche

## NOTICE



The quality of this microfiche is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us a poor photocopy.

Previously copyrighted materials (journal articles, published tests, etc.) are not filmed.

Reproduction in full or in part of this film is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-30. Please read the authorization forms which accompany this thesis.

## THIS DISSERTATION HAS BEEN MICROFILMED EXACTLY AS RECEIVED

La qualité de cette microfiche dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

AVIS

S'il manque des pages, veùillez communiquer avec l'université qui a conféré le grade.

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont été dactylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban use ou si l'université nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de mauvaise qualité.

Les documents qui font déjà l'objet d'un droit d'auteur (articles de revue, examens publiés, etc.) ne sont pas microfilmés.

La reproduction, même partielle, de ce microfilm est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SRC 1970, c. C-30. Veuillez prendre connaissance des formules d'autorisation qui accompagnent cette thèse.

## LA THÈSÉ A ÉTÉ MICROFILMÉE TELLE QUE NOUS L'AVONS RECUE

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4

# THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

Biological Studies on Common Chickweed (Stellaria media)



A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE

OF Master of Science

IN

Weed Science

Department of Plant Science

EDMONTON, ALBERTA

Spring 1981

## THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA RELEASE FORM

NAME OF	
TITLE OF	THESIS ,

Joan Amundsen

SIS , Bielogical Studies on gommon Chickweed (Stellaria media)

DEGREE FOR WHICH THESIS WAS PRESENTED. Master of Science YEAR THIS DEGREE GRANTED . Spring 1981

Permission is hereby granted to THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA LIBRARY to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission.

(SIGNED) Jan anundsen PERMANENT ADDRESS:

.....General Delwery .... .... Panata, Alberta ... TOC. 2HO

DATED . Opril. 23.... 19 81

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research, for acceptance, a thesis entitled Biological Studies on Common Chickweed (Stellaria media) submitted by Joan Amundsen in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Weed Science.

langulad fl

Supervisor

Date. April 21, 198/.

## Abstract

Common chickweed (Stellaria media) has become a serious problem for farmers in north-central Alberta in recent years. Results of biological studies on the species are presented here.

Germination of fresh chickweed seeds, varied with seed lot. Gibberellic acid was very effective in overcoming seed dormancy, but the effectiveness of potassium nitrate varied with seed lot and length of storage of the seed. Dormancy characteristics did not seem to be inherited. Dormancy was overcome within one month when seeds were stored under cool, moist conditions. The optimum temperature for chickweed germination was 15 to 20°C, and few seeds germinated at 3°C or at 25°C. Application of potassium nitrate to the soil increased germination. The optimum depth of seeding was 0.5 to 1.0 cm. Emergence decreased with depth of seeding and no seedlings emerged from 5 cm.

Field-grown chickweed flowered 40 days after emergence. Flowering was indeterminate and, continued for 4 to 5 wheeks in early summer. Pod and seed development was rapid and viable seeds were produced 9 days after flowering. When flowering was complete, the branches senesced but new branches arose from near the base of the plant and produced flowers in September. The plants survived freezing temperatures in the fall, but only the tips of the branches remained green. Chickweed did not survive as a winter annual

١v

in the Edmonton area.

\*

Dry matter production by chickweed plants increased with increasing light intensity. Plants grown at low light intensities branched very little and were green and weak-stemmed, while those grown at higher light intensities branched freely and were compact with short internodes, stiff, reddish stems and small leaves.

Growth of chickweed was reduced as temperature increased from 8°C to 30/20°C. The form of the plant was altered when chickweed was grown at 30/20°C. Plants placed in a 30°C incubator died.

Chickweed growth was reduced with a reduction in available soil water.

Dry matter production per pot increased up to a density of 10 to 25 plants per pot, but further increases in density up to 100 plants per pot did not result in any additional increases in dry matter production per pot. As expected, increasing chickweed density resulted in reduced barley dry matter production when the two species were grown in competition. Time of emergence of the chickweed was very important to competition between the two species. When chickweed emerged 2 weeks before the barley, barley growth was severely limited regardless of chickweed density.

Chickweed was controlled with linuron/MCPA, cyanazine/MCPA, and A5633 alone or in combination with MCPA, whereas metribuzin and DPX 4189 also provided residual control. Mecoprop/bromoxynil was effective if a high rate of mecoprop was included. Dicamba/MCPA and propanil/MCPA did not control chickweed.

vi.

ú

٠.,

ŵ

## Acknowledgements

I wish to acknowledge the advice and support given by Dr. W.H. VandenBorn during the course of my studies.

Thanks are also due to Mr. R.J. Schraa for assistance and advice particularly in preparation of photographic materials, to other staff members for their help and encouragement and to Mrs. K. Brewka for her art work.

Financial assistance from the Government of Alberta and the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada is gratefully acknowledged.

vii

	Table of Contents
Chapte	
Ι.	
II.	Literature Review2
	A. Distribution and Habitat2
	B. Description
	C. Seed Germination4
	D. Growth and Reproduction
	E. Competition
	F. Control
	G. Uses of Chickweed
III.	Materials and Methods
	A. Seed Germination
	Monthly Germination Tests
	Cold Storage of Seed
	Temperature for Germination
	Effect of Soil Applied Potassium Nitrate18
	Depth of Seeding
	B. Growth and Development
	C. Light
	D. Temperature
•	E. Soil Water Content
	F. Competition
	Intraspecific Competition
•	Competition with Barley

٨

viii

	G. Control	. 29	
	Greenhouse Experiment		
	Field Experiments)		
IV	Results	.33 .	
	A. Seed Germination	. 33	
	Monthly Germination Tests		
	Cold Storage of Seed		
	Temperature for Germination		
	Effect of Soil Applied Potassium Nitrate		
	Depth of Seeding		
	B. Growth and Development	42	
	C. Light	•	
· .	D. Temperature		
	E. Soil Water Content		
	F. Competition		
	Intraspecific Competition		
	Competition with Barley		
	G. Control		
	Greenhouse Experiment		
	Field Experiments	90	
۷.	Discussion and Conclusions	36	
Biblic	ography	00	
			٠

# List of Tables

4, • ·

,

्र अ

.

4

• •

. • 2

.

Ť.

•

.

Table	e 's Page	ي. 14 الجو
III.	1. Herbicides Used for Control of Chickweed in Greenhouse and Field Trials	•
IV.1	Percent Germination of Progeny of Seed Lots 79A, 79B and 79C	
IV.2	Effect of Temperature on Percent Germination of Chickweed Seed of Lot 78	• • :
IV.3	Effect of Soil Applied Potassium Nitrate on Percent Germination of Chickweed Seed of Lot 79841	
IV.4	Effect of Depth of Seeding on Percent Emergence of Chickweed Seedlings from Seed Lot 79A	
IV.5	Summary of Growth and Development of Chickweed in the Greenhouse	
10.6	Length of Leaves at Various Positions on Field Grown Chickweed	•
IV.7	Length of Internodes at Various Positions on Field Grown Chickweed	
<b>۲۸۲</b> °	Development of Chickweed Seed Capsules	
IV.9	Germination of Chickweed Seeds Collected Seven to Eleven Days After Flowering	- · , ·
IV.10	Dry Matter Production of Chičkweed Grown Under Four Soil Moisture Conditions	
IV.11		•
1V.12	Length of Chickweed Main Stems as Affected by Density	•••
IV.13		•
IV. 14	Control of Greenhouse-Grown Chickweed with Various Herbicide Treatments Applied when the Plants had Seven to Eight Leaf Pairs	•
IV.15	Control of Chickweed in a Mixed Crop of Bonanza Barley and Park Wheat: Experiment 79A	•

X

. .

A		n (* 1990), græðinn ski Transformaring (* 1990) Græð fransformaring (* 1990)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			1. 18
	IV. 18	Cantrol of	Chickens	d in Gate		
		Explor imprit	804	en nn en en en ∙∙∘∙°eterre		
	11.17	Control of	Chickup	d in them		*** 3 * * 3
\$	• •	Experiment	90B	•••	• **	
	•	<b>.</b>				
		•		5 <b>4</b> 7	1997 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 -	

List of Figures

LIST OF FIGURES	`,
e Page	Figur
Experimental Setup for Light Experiment	III.1
Germination of Chickweed Seed from Three Lots3	IV.1
Germination of Cold-Stored Chickweed Seeds	IV.2
Flowering Branch of Chickweed Showing Attachment of Flowers and Type of Branching44	IV.3
Growth of Chickweed Plants in the Field	IV.4
Shoot Dry Weight as Influenced by Light Intensity5	IV.5
Main Stem Length as Influenced by Light Intensity54	IV.6
Internode Length as Influenced by Light Intensity55	IV.7
Leaf Length as Influenced by Light Intensity57	IV.8
Chickweed Plants Grown at Varying Light Intensities, 63 Days After Emergence	IV.9
Dry Weight of Chickweed as Affected by Temperature.62	IV.10
Internode Length of Chickweed as Affected by Temperature	<b>IV.11</b>
Leaf Length of Chickweed as Affected by Temperature64	IV.12
Chickweed Plants Grown at Varying Temperatures	IV.13 ·
Chickweed Shoot Dry Matter Production per Pot at Varying Densities	IV.14
Chickweed Shoot Dry Matter Production per Plant at Varying Densities	IV.15
Barley Dry Weight as Affected by Competition with Chickweed at Densities from 1 to 100 Plants per 12.5-cm Pot	IV.16
Maximum Number of Barley Tillers per Plant as Affected by Competition with Chickweed at Densities of 1 to 100 Plants per 12.5-cm Pot75	IV.17
Barley Dry Weight as Affected by Time of Emergence of Chickweed at a Density of 35 Plants per 12.5-cm Pot	IV.18 0
xii	•

- IV.19 Maximum Number of Tillers per Barley Plant as Affected by Various Times of Emergence of Chickweed at a Density of 35 Plants per 12.5-cm Pot79

## I. Introduction

All the second second

• • •

Weeds interfere with crop production in many ways. Competition for light, water and nutrients may reduce the yield and quality of the crop. Weeds can also pose mechanical problems in harvesting operations and act as alternate hosts for disease organisms and insects (23). In order to minimize these problems, we must understand the growth habits of weeds so that we may design effective control programs.

Common chickweed (Stellaria media) is listed as a noxious weed under the regulations of the Weed Control Act in Alberta (3). It has become a serious problem to farmers in north central Alberta in recent years. Few studies have been carried out in the prairie provinces regarding the growth and competitiveness of chickweed. This project was initiated, therefore, to provide information on the growth of chickweed in north central Alberta, and its competitive behaviour in crops.

ø

#### II. Literature Review

## A. Distribution and Habitat

Chickweed is a native of Eurasia, but has become one of the most widespread weeds in the world (21). It has travelled with man for centuries. Evidence of this comes from northwestern Europe where seeds of the species were found in the stomachs of the Tollund man and the Graubelle man, dated at the third to fifth century A.D. (21).

Chickweed is found on every continent and is absent from only the most Arctic regions and from very dry areas. It occurs at tropical latitudes, but only at high elevations (48). Chickweed prefers cool, moist, shady locations and grows on most soil types (21). It does best on a heavy nitrogen rich soil with pH in the range of 5.2 to 8.2, but it has been found growing on soil with pH 4.8. Growth was reduced on acid soils, likely due to aluminum toxicity (23,48).

Chickweed occurs as a weed in a great variety of crops throughout the world. It is a weed of cereals, forages, pastures, sugar beets, vegetable crops, small fruits, citrus, sugar cane, coffee, hemp, orchards and vineyards. It can create special problems in perennial, winter annual or early-planted spring crops, as it begins growth very early in the spring. It is one of the most common weeds of spring and winter cereals in northern Europe and in the Hokkaido

region of Japan (21). Ghickweed was reported, in 1979, to be a principal weed in 21 countries, present as a weed in 26 more and a part of the native flora in an additional five countries (22).

In Canada, chickweed has been reported present in all provinces, as well as in the Yukon and District of Mackenzie. It was found in Alaska as far north as 68°N, and has been introduced in Greenland (40). It was more common in British Columbia and eastern Canada than in the prairie provinces (48).

Chickweed infested an estimated 1.4 million hectares in Alberta in 1980 (13). The area of heaviest infestation was in north-central Alberta, where about 40% of the cultivated land was infested. Scattered infestations occurred in the south-central and Peace River regions.

## B. Description

Chickweed is an annual, winter annual or sometimes a perennial herb. The stems are 5 to 40 cm long, much branched and may be decumbent or ascending. A single line of hairs occurs along each internode. The leaves are opposite, glabrous and entire, the lower ones being 3 to 20 mm long, ovate and stalked with a line of hairs on the petiole. The upper leaves are larger, up to 30 mm long, broadly elliptic and sessile or slightly petiolate. Flowers are numerous and are borne solitary in leaf axils, or in terminal cymes. They have three styles, three to ten stamens, five sepals and

five petals. The sepals are 4 to 6 mm long and hairy. The petals are white, deeply bifid and somewhat shorter than the sepals. The capsule is obovoid, slightly longer than the calyx and opens by six valves at maturity. It contains eight to ten reddish-brown seeds that are 0.9 to 1.3 mm in diameter, flattened and tuberculate (8,21,28,29).

## C. Seed Germination

Seed dormancy and longevity are factors that affect the persistence of weed seeds and therefore affect the ability of weeds to infest croplands. A seed is considered dormant if it is viable but will not germinate when placed under conditions usually suitable for germination (32,45). In many cases, seed dormancy decreases slowly with dry storage at room temperature (45). Some seeds require stratification, a low temperature treatment of imbibed seeds, to overcome dormancy (32,45). Exposure to light may also be effective in breaking seed dormancy in some species, especially after the seeds have been buried (43,52). Each plant species has a range of temperatures that are optimum for germination. In many cases, alternating temperatures are found to promote germination (31). The addition of nitrate (17,32) or gibberellic acid (10,45) to the germination medium may also promote germination in some species.

In chickweed, dormancy was lost slowly when the seeds were stored dry. Roberts and Lockett (34) tested germination under a range of constant and alternating temperatures with

and without the addition of potassium nitrate. Germination increased to some extent after the seed had been stored for 36 weeks, regardless of germination conditions. In most cases, some increase in germination was noted after 4 or 14 weeks of dry storage. In other studies, seed that initially germinated 33% increased to 70% germination after 30 months dry storage (15) and seed with a germination of 16% two weeks after harvest, germinated 52% after 6 months dry storage (10). Chickweed seed lost dormancy during dry ' storage, but the time required, and the extent of dormancy loss varied with germination conditions and seed lot.

Burial in the soil provides more favorable conditions for loss of dormancy than does dry stomage. An appreciable increase in chickweed germination was observed after burial of seeds for 4 weeks. After 14 weeks, germination of exhumed seed was almost complete (34). Taylorson (44) found that chickweed seeds which were dormant when fresh germinated less than 20% after being buried for 3 months, but germination after 6, 9 and 12 months was near 100%.

A work done in Kentucky (5) where chickweed behaves as a winter anual, showed that imbibed seeds did not lose dormancy when held at 5 to 10°C and no germination occurred when they materansferred from these conditions to an environmental analise for germination. Temperatures of 20°C or higher were required for a terripening of imbibed seeds in this study. This sigh temperature requirement for afterripening provided a mechanism which ensured that the -

Q

seeds would germinate at a time that was most suitable for growth of the plants, that is, in the fall. Afterripening conditions likely vary depending on the adaptation of the plant to its environment. Where chickweed behaves as a summer annual, seeds could be expected to lose dormancy at lower temperatures such as those experienced in the fall and winter, to ensure spring germination.

Chickweed germination has been enhanced by the addition of 0.2% potassium nitrate to the germination medium (2,34). The addition of nitrate fertilizer to soil did not significantly stimulate germination of four species tested (17,39), however, laboratory germination of lambsquarters seed harvested from nitrate-treated plots increased over the control (17). Chickweed was not included in these experiments.

۰.

Gibberellic acid was reported to be active in overcoming dormancy in some species (2,10), but germination of chickweed was not affected by presoaking with 500 or 1000 ppm GA (10).

Interactions between factors can be very important in breaking seed dormancy. Roberts and Lockett (34) observed that fresh chickweed seeds would not germinate except when given 0.2% potassium nitrate, an alternating temperature regime and intermittent light. When only one or two of these factors were present, they had no effect on germination of fresh seeds. In contrast, Andersen (2) reported 71% germination when 1 month old seeds were exposed to 0.2%

6

- 4

potassium nitrate at a constant temperature of 20°C. No mention was made of lighting conditions. Whereas interactions between factors seem to be important in loss of seed dormancy, the origin and treatment of the seed is also important.

Germination of fresh chickweed seeds was stimulated when soil was used as a substrate rather than filter paper (2), possibly due to the presence of nitrate in the soil. The optimum depth of seeding, in the field (2) and in a laboratory study (14), was 0.5 to 1.2 cm. In the field, few seedlings emerged from 2 cm, but in the laboratory study some emerged from 5 cm. No seedlings emerged from 7.8 cm in  $\frac{1}{2}$ 

Germination of fresh chickweed seeds does not seem to be promoted by light and may be inhibited by strong illumination (34), but seeds that have been buried in soil for some time develop a light requirement for germination. In the field, a large flush of germination of weeds

including chickweed occurred after disturbance of cultivated land that had been in pasture for 6 years (51). This was attributed to the loss of dormancy by buried seed when it was exposed to light. Subsequent studies (43,44) showed that burial of seeds that did not require light for germination, including chickweed, induced a light requirement. Taylorson (43,44) showed that light~induced germination of seeds after burial was the result of a phytochrome response. In some species, including chickweed, it appeared that germination

was stimulated by very small changes in the P level and  $\frac{fr}{fr}$  therefore the seeds were sensitive to small amounts of light. This conclusion is supported by the observation that low-intensity green light from a safe lamp promoted germination of buried chickweed seeds, over a dark control (6).

The optimum constant temperature for germination of chickweed seed was found to be in the range of 12°C to 20°C (34). Germination was reduced at 25°C and higher. Some germination occurred at 2°C to 5°C but it was slow at these temperatures (24,34). Alternating temperatures enhanced germination and may be required for germination of fresh seeds (34).

Seeds that are buried in the soil may remain viable for a considerable length of time. In general, increasing depth of burial or placement in acid or waterlogged soils favor dormancy and survival of the seeds (15,43). In Dr. Beal's seed viability experiment, some chickweed seeds germinated in the thirtieth year after burial but not in the thirty-fifth year (12). Chickweed seeds buried in the Duvel seed experiment were viable after 10 years but not after 16 years (47). Viability was lost most quickly at the shallowest of the three depths of burial included in this experiment. In a more recent study in Mississippi (15), the viability of chickweed seed was reduced after burial for 6 months and after 30 months no viable seed remained. This relatively short period of viability, in comparison with

other studies, may be due to the hot, humid summers experienced in that region or to differences in the conditions of burial between the experiments. In the latter experiment, the seeds were buried in a manner that more closely resembled a natural situation than that of the two earlier experiments. Field studies of weed seeds, including chickweed, buried in a British soil (33) showed that the number of viable weed seeds declined exponentially whether the soil was cultivated or not, however, the decline was most rapid when the soil was cultivated.

Plant species have varying requirements for overcoming dormancy; therefore, the emergence of seedlings is distributed over time. This distribution in time may also be related to seed location in the soil and related temperature, moisture and aeration differences. Many species tend to have two peaks of germination in the spring and fall (32,46). Roberts and Ricketts (35) found that weed seedlings that emerged following a cultivation accounted for 3 to 6% of the soil seed population. Emergence of chickweed was higher following cultivations in the spring and fall than following cultivation in the summer (23,33).

## D. Growth and Reproduction

Chickweed is reported to be a pioneering species that grows best in new or disturbed communities and is capable of colonizing bare areas very quickly (21,48). The plants are quite variable and therefore are adaptable to a variety of

.9

habitats. Fall seedlings behave as winter annuals in southwestern British Columbia and in England, where winters are moderate (48). In more severe climates, such as northern Alberta, chickweed overwinters only as seed.

Chickweed can grow rapidly and sometimes produces several generations in a year (21,48). Plants are capable of rooting from the nodes where the stems touch moist ground (47). Chickweed begins to flower 4 to 5 weeks after emergence (53) and flowering is continual. The flowers are self-pollinated (37) and they open and close only once, lasting about one day. When the plants are in the reproductive phase, there are usually flowers and seeds on the plant, in all stages of maturity. The plants have eight to ten seeds per capsule and the average seed production has been estimated at 2400 (37) to 2900 (19) seeds per plant. Seed production by the largest plant in the experiment by Salisbury (37) was estimated at 13,000 seeds. In Sweden, Foglefors (19) estimated production of 388,600 seeds per  $m^2$ in the field, at an experimental density of 135 plants per m².

Several estimates of the number of chickweed seeds present in the soil have been given: 8.3 million per hectare (35), 11 to 13 million per hectare (21), and 4.4 million viable seeds per hectare in arable land (23).

Chickweed has been reported to grow and flower at temperatures down to 2°C (48) and to survive temperatures as low as -10°C (21), but no mention was made of the length of

time it was able to survive these low temperatures. Chickweed has been reported to flower and produce seed ) throughout the year in climates where it grows through the winter. Flowers produced in the winter were apetalous and cleistogamous, but they were self-pollinated and produced fertile seeds (21,23). Although chickweed seems well adapted for cold survival, it was unable to withstand hot, dry conditions and died back if such conditions persisted (48). The optimum temperature for laboratory culture of chickweed was 22°C (49).

Foglefors (18) showed that chickweed had a good physiological adaptation to low light conditions, and was capable of flowering and producing seed near its light compensation point but the light compensation point was not stated. In a study in Japan (24), the light compensation point for chickweed was about 10 klux.

## E. Competition

N;

The principle of Gause, first stated in 1934, considered plant interactions in two situations. It stated that if two plants were competing for the same resources in the same space, only one of them would survive. On the other hand, if two plants differed in their needs for space, time or resources, even if some of these needs overlapped, they could coexist (9). Competition was defined by Bleasdale (7) as a situation where the growth or form of one or both of the competitors was different from that of an individual

11

玂

grown alone. This definition considers a situation where competing plants can coexist as stated by Gause, but recognizes that they do have an effect on one another. Weeds growing with crop plants use light, water and nutrients that should be available to the cropplants, and therefore may reduce crop yields. The extent of yield reduction varies depending on climatic and edaphic conditions, but it is primarily a function of the relative competitiveness of the crop and weed plants which, in turn, is affected by a number of factors. The size of the infilial photosynthetic area is important, as are the rate of production of leaf area and the net assimilation rate. The rate of production, extent and distribution of the root system and the rate of uptake of water and nutrients also affect the outcome of competition. Thus, the time of emergence of the crop and waed plants and their efficiency in using available resources will determine their success. The density of the populations and the time of weed removal mustialso be considered (7,20,26,27,30,36,41).

In intraspecific competition studies with chickweed, densities of 1, 2, 4, 6 and 8 plants per pot all resulted in about the same amount of above-ground dry matter per pot. Root dry matter increased up to a density of four plants per pot (27).

Although there are few published reports of competition studies with chickweed, it is reported to reduce the yield of some crops. Chickweed reduced the weight of tops and

roots of container-grown carrots (7), but it had little effect on container-grown kale (50). In a field experiment, the yield of sugar beet was reduced by 50% where chickweed was an important weed (41). The yield of fall-planted cabbage in Scotland was reduced if weeds were not removed before the period of rapid crop and weed growth in the spring (26). Chickweed was the main weed problem there because of its winter annual habit and its ability to grow rapidly in the early spring, shading the cabbage.

In greenhouse pot experiments, the dry weight production of ryegrass (20) and barley (27) was reduced by competition with chickweed. The loss was increased in both cases with increasing density of the weed. Increasing barley density, while holding chickweed numbers constant, increased the competitive ability of the crop (27). A field experiment in Sweden (19) showed a 40% reduction in barley yield with a density of 135 chickweed plants per m<sup>2</sup>, on untreated plots as compared with those treated with 2.0 kg/ha MCPA (see 'Materials and Methods' Table III.1 for chemical name).

#### F. Control

A variety of herbicides is available for the control of chickweed in a wide range of crops. The following chemicals are recommended for use in Alberta (1). In cereals, linuron + MCPA, cyanazine + MCPA, metribuzin or mecoprop can be used to control chickweed (see 'Materials and Methods' for chemical names). Trifluralin ( $\alpha, \alpha, \alpha$ -trifluoro-2,6-dinitroN,N-dipropyl-p-toluidine) is recommended for rapeseed. In flax, cyanazine + MCPA, linuron + MCPA, trifluralin or EPTC "S-ethyl dipropylthiocarbamate) can be used for chickweed control.

G. Uses of Chickweed

Chickweed may be a serious weed, but through the years it has had many uses. In the recent past, farmers along the Rhine in Europe carefully transplanted chickweed into their vineyards to hold the soil and to produce a grape crop of superior quality and yield. Some Scandinavian farmers still encourage chickweed in their orchards in the belief that it will bring good fruiting and high yields (21).

Chickweed was a favorite of the herbalists in days gone by. Chopped and boiled greens were used in a poultice to heal boils, inflammation, external abscesses and skin cancers (11,16,42). Chickweed juice was prescribed for scurvy and inflammation of the eyes and it was reputed to heal cancers (16).

On the dinner table, chickweed is a fine potherb. The young growing tips can be used as salad greens or as a cooked vegetable. The following recipe is provided by Szczawinski and Turner (42).

Oriental-Style Chickweed

15 ml peanut oil

1 clove garlic, minced

750 ml chickweed leaves,

washed and chopped

10 ml cornstarch

15 ml soy sauce

250 ml cold water

2 ml grated ginger

125 ml chow mein noodles

Heat oil in a frying pan or wok. Add garlic and stir-fry until well browned. Add chickweed leaves and stir constantly for 3 minutes. Mix cornstarch and soy sauce in water and pour over chickweed. Add ginger. Stir until the liquid thickens, being careful not to overcook. Add noodles. Stir and serve immediately.

For those who would rather not eat it, chickweed can be used as a vegetable dye. Personal experience has shown that chickweed will produce a pale green dye on alum-mordanted wool.

## III. Materials and Methods

## A. Seed Germination

Experiments were carried out to determine the effect of various treatments on germination of chickweed seed. Four lots of seed were used in these trials. They were stored dry at room temperature.

Lot No.	Date collected	Location
78	July-Aug 1978	Ellerslie
79A	July 12,1979	greenhouse
79B	July 31,1979	NE23-57-25-W4
79C	Aug 14, 1979	NW15-57-24-W4

The germination procedure described here was used in all seed germination experiments except as noted. Four lots of 50 seeds each were counted for each treatment. They were placed on two layers of moist filter paper in a closed petri dish and put in a dark incubator at 15°C. The dishes were watered as required with distilled water and germination was checked periodically. Seeds were considered to have germinated when the radicle protruded 1 mm. Trials were terminated after 10 days.

### Monthly Germination Tests

Seed lots 79A, 79B, and 79C were used in this experiment. Seeds were first tested for germination 3 months after collection, and then each month for 8 months. Three treatments were applied to each seed lot.

- 1. Dry seeds were placed on filter paper moistened with distilled water.
- Dry seeds were placed on filter paper moistened with
  0.2% potassium nitrate.
- Seeds were covered with 0.1% gibberellic, acid for 24 hours. They were then placed on filter paper moistened with distilled water.

The germination procedure described above was followed.

Plants were grown in the greenhouse from seed lots 79A, 79B and 79C, and seed was collected to determine if dormancy characteristics were inherited. Germination was tested immediately after collection of the seed and 6 weeks later. The treatments applied to these seeds were as described above.

Cold Storage of Seed

Seed of lot 79C, in counted lots of 50 seeds each, was placed in small nylon bags that were wetted and buried in a tray of moist vermiculite, or in paper envelopes that were stored dry. Seed for both treatments was kept in a coldroom at 4°C. After 1, 2; 4, 6 and 8 months, four lots of seeds were removed from each treatment and tested for germination.

## Temperature for Germination

Seed of lot 78 that had been stored for 10 months was used for this experiment. Seeds were placed in the dark at

3°C, 10°C, 15°C, 20°C or 25°C for germination. At each temperature, two treatments were applied. Seed was germinated in distilled water or it was treated with gibberellic acid as described in the first section, to overcome dormancy. Seeds of lot 79B were germinated at 8°C, 23°C and 30°C with treatments as describedabove.

## Effect of Soil Applied Potassium Nitrate

Fifty gram samples of soil that contained 6 ppm nitrate were placed in individual petri dishes and 15 ml of either water or potassium nitrate solution was added. Enough potassium nitrate was added to increase the soil nitrate concentration by 60, 300 or 1200 ppm nitrate. Petri dishes were closed and left for one week to allow distribution of potassium nitrate through the soil. Seed of lot 79B was placed on the soil surface and the dishes were closed and left to germinate at 15°C.

### Depth of Seeding

Seed of lot 79A was covered with 0.1% gibberellic acid for 24 hours to break dormancy. It was allowed to dry and then seeded into greenhouse potting mix (soil, peat and sand, 3:2:1) in 12.5-cm plastic pots. Seeds were placed on the soil surface and at depths of 0.5, 1, 2, 3 and 5 cm. The pots were placed in a greenhouse at 18°C. Emergence was observed periodically for 1 month after seeding.

## B. Growth and Development

Experiments were carried out in the greenhouse and the field, at Ellerslie, to observe growth and development of chickweed plants.

Chickweed was seeded in greenhouse potting mix (see page 18) in 12.5-cm plastic pots. The plants were thinned to one plant per pot when they had two pairs of true leaves. Four plants were observed daily and photographs were taken weekly until seed production was well underway. Several unopened flower buds were tagged and daily observations were made of their development.

Chickweed was seeded in the field on October 23, 1979, to ensure germination the following spring. Emergence was recorded and the plants were observed and photographed weekly until the end of July. Each week the following measurements were taken on four plants: length of the main stem, length of the third internode from the apex, and length and width of the leaf above that internode. These leaves and internodes represented the youngest fully expanded parts of the plant. When the plants began to flower, the position of leaves and internodes relative to the first flower was recorded. Flowers produced on the main stem and each of the first two branches were counted. Monthly observations were made through the fall to observe late season growth and cold tolerance.

An experiment was conducted to determine the length of time from flowering to production of viable seeds. Chickweed

was grown in shallow 20-cm plastic pots in the greenhouse. Approximately ninety flowers were tagged on the first day of opening, and capsules were collected 7, 8, 9, 10 and 11 days after tagging. Of sixteen capsules collected each day, eight were placed in a paper envelope and stored for later germination. The others were measured and observations of seed development were made. The seeds in each capsule were counted and they were pooled for a germination test. Seeds were put on filter paper in a petri dish with 3.5 ml of 0.1% gibberellic acid. The petri dishes were placed in a dark incubator at 15°C. Germination was checked periodically and distilled water was supplied to keep the seeds moist. The stored seeds were tested for germination 7 weeks after collection. The seeds in each capsule were counted and they were pooled for germination tests. Seeds were covered with 0.1% gibberellic acid for 24 hours, then placed in petri dishes on filter paper moistened with distilled water. They were germinated under the same conditions as the previous lot.

A few seedlings emerged with three cotyledonary leaves rather than the normal two. Three of these plants were transplanted and observed in the greenhouse.

Chickweed seedlings were set out in the fall to determine if they were capable of survival as winter annuals. Seed was soaked in 0.1% gibberellic acid for 24 hours immediately before seeding, to overcome dormancy. Seeding was done on three dates: August 30, September 19 and

October 3, 1979. On each date, ten seeds were planted in each of fifteen peat pots. The pots were stored outdoors until all plants had emerged, then they were thinned to one plant per pot. On October 23, 1979, the pots were set into the soil in the field for the winter. They were observed in April, 1980 for survival.

### C. Light

An experiment was carried out to determine the effect of light intensity on growth of chickweed. Seed was soaked 24 hours in 0.1% gibberellic acid, to break dormancy. It was allowed to dry before seeding into UC mix (sand and peat, 1:1 + potassium nitrate, potassium sulphate, superphosphate, calcium carbonate, magnesium carbonate, bone) in 170-ml styrofoam cups. The cups were placed in a growth cabinet at 17°C with a 16-hour photoperiod. Three days after emergence, the chickweed was thinned to one plant per pot and put under four different light intensities that were created by the placement of pots within the growth cabinet (Figure III.1). Pots at the lowest light intensity were placed under a bench. The light was primarily from one direction so pots were placed only two deep to minimize the difference in light intensity received by plants at the front and back of this group. The next light level was created by placing pots at the bottom of the growth cabinet under a frame covered with four layers of cheesecloth. The two higher light intensities were achieved by putting the plants on benches


Figure III.1 Experimental Setup for Light Experiment

closer to the light source. A slightly higher temperature was experienced by the plants closest to the light source.

The light provided was a mixture of incandescent and cool-white fluorescent. Light intensities were measured as quantum flux in the 400 to 700 nm range, using a Li-Cor LI-190S Quantum Sensor.

Treatments were replicated four times and pots were rotated twice weekly within replicates at each light level. Four plants were harvested each week beginning one month after emergence of the seedlings. Photographs were taken and shoot dry weights were determined as were the length of the main stem, length of the third internode from the apex and length and width of the leaf above that internode.

Field observations were made on plants growing in 17 different locations. In each location, the light intensity was measured and the type of habitat was recorded. The length and width of a leaf in the vegetative portion of the plant and a leaf at the node where the first flower arose, were measured.

#### D. Temperature

An experiment was carried out to determine the effect of temperature on growth of chickweed. Chickweed was seeded into greenhouse potting mix (see page 18) in 170-ml styrofoam cups and placed in the greenhouse. Within 5 days of emergence, the seedlings were thinned to one per pot and transferred to temperature-controlled incubators. Two identical incubators were used. The photoperiod was set at 16 hours and light intensity at shelf level was 140 E/m<sup>2</sup>/sec.

Every week, beginning about 2 weeks after the plants emerged, four plants were randomly selected for harvest from each treatment. Shoot dry weight, length of the main stem, length of the third internode from the apex of the main stem and length and width of the leaf above that internode were recorded. A note was made of plants that were flowering at the time they were harvested.

Chickweed plants were grown at constant temperatures of 8°C, 16°C, 23°C and 30°C, and under an alternating temperature regime of 30°C in the light period and 20°C in the dark. The 8°C and 30°C treatments were run simultaneously, as were the 16°C and 23°C treatments. Plants grown at 30°/20°C were started when those grown at 30°C died, about 25 days after the experiment began, and they were observed for only 5 weeks rather than 8 weeks as the other treatments were.

E. Soil Water Content

An experiment was carried out to observe the response of chickweed to low soil water conditions. Black loam soil was passed through a 6 mm mesh sieve and 800 g soil was placed in 12.5-cm plastic pots. Field capacity and permanent wilting point of the soil were determined by the standard pressure plate method. The total weight of the pot, soil and

water at field capacity was calculated and this weight was used to determine field capacity when watering the pots. Chickweed was seeded and the pots were then watered up to field capacity and placed in the greenhouse. After emergence, the seedlings were thinned to one per pot. The pots were watered to field capacity regularly for 2 weeks, after which four treatments were imposed.

1. Pots were watered to field capacity daily.

- 2. Pots were allowed to dry until the plants were at the point of wilting and were then watered to field capacity. The leaves were limp to the touch, but were not obviously wilted.
- 3. Pots were allowed to dry until the leaves were wilted and were then watered to field capacity.
- 4. Pots were watered to field capacity when the plants had been wilted for 2 days.

Timing of the watering was determined by the appearance of the plants. The time between waterings varied slightly depending on weather conditions as they affected the rate of evapotranspiration from the pots. Plants went through the watering and drying cycle repeatedly during the course of the experiment. The weight to which the pots were watered was adjusted upward at each harvest according to the average increase in fresh weight of plants in each treatment.

The experiment was a randomized complete block design with four replicates. Rots were rotated within the replicates twice weekly. Harvests were taken 27, 38 and

48 days fiter emergence. Shoot dry weight, length of the main stem, internode length and leaf length and width were measured. At the first and second harvests, the leaf and internode measured were in the vegetative portion of the plant, fourth from the apex of the main stem. At the final harvest, a leaf at the first flower and the internode immediately above it were measured.

# F. Competition

A greenhouse experiment was carried out to observe the effect of intraspecific competition on the growth of chickweed. In three additional experiments, the effects of chickweed density and time of emergence on barley growth were investigated.

# Intraspecific Competition

Chickweed seed was soaked for 24 hours in 0.1% gibberellic acid to break dormancy. It was dried before seeding into UC mix (see page 21) in 12.5-cm plastic pots which were glaced in a greenhouse at 18°C to 25°C. Two days after emergence, seedlings were thinned to give 1, 2, 5, 10, 25, 50 or 100 plants per pot. Opaque cardboard collars were placed around the plants to support them and to force them to grow upright. The collars were built up in segments 10 cm high as the plants grew. Plants were harvested from four pots at each plant density 11, 25 and 39 days after emergence. At each harvest, one plant in each pot was

randomly selected for the following measurements:

1. Length of the main stem

2. Length and width of leaves

a. first harvest - first true leaf

b. second harvest - first and fourth leaves

c. third harvest

- 1) leaf below first flower.
- 2) leaf at first flower.
- 3) leaf at third flower

Shoot dry weight per pot was determined and the initial density was used to calculate the dry weight per plant. Some plants may have died between thinning and harvest, but there was no evidence that this was the case. Pots were rotated twice weekly within replicates for each harvest date.

# Competition with Barley

1

**R**.

Chickweed seed was soaked in 0.1% gibberellic acid for 24 hours and dried before seeding into 12.5-cm plastic pots. The pots were placed in a greenhouse at 18°C to 25°C. Seedlings were thinned to the desired stand 5 to 10 days after emergence. Galt barley was seeded in each pot and thinned to four plants per pot 2 to 3 days after it emerged. Timing of the emergence of chickweed relative to the barley is described below. Barley shoot dry weight, height, leaf stage and the average number of tillers per plant in each pot were recorded at each harvest as were chickweed shoot dry weight and height.

Three experiments were carried out. In the first experiment, the effect of chickweed density on barley growth was studied, while the others were concerned with the effect of the time of emergence of chickweed on barley growth.

In the first experiment, the potting medium was greenhouse potting mix (see page 18). Chickweed emerged 1 day after the barley and was thinned to 1, 2, 5, 10, 25, 50 and 100 plants per pot. After thinning, the plants were enclosed in a cylinder of fibreglass screening 30 cm tall to force the chickweed to grow upright as it would in a barley field. The pots were fertilized with 15-30-15 nine days after the barley emerged. Plants of both species were harvested from four pots for each density 15, 25 and 35 days after barley emergence.

Two experiments, with two different chickweed densities, were done to study the effect of the time of emergence of chickweed on barley growth. In the first one, chickweed was seeded into UC mix (see page 21) so that it emerged 15, 8 or 5 days before the barley, with the barley, or 4, 7 or 14 days after the barley. Chickweed was thinned to 35 plants per pot. The plants were supported with cardboard collars as described in the section 'Intraspecific Competition'. Plants were fertilized with 20-0-25 nine days after barley emergence and with 15-15-30 twenty-three days after emergence. Harvests were taken 16, 30 and 45 days after emergence of the barley.

In the second experiment chickweed was seeded into greenhouse potting mix (see page 18) to emerge 15, 9, 6 or 2 days before the barley, or 2, 5 or 12 days after the barley. Chickweed was thinned to 15 plants per pot. The plants were supported with fibreglass screening as described above. Plants were fertilized with 15-15-30 eight days after barley emergence. Harvests were taken 13, 24 and 34 days after emergence of the barley.

Treatments in all three experiments were repeated four times and pots were rotated twice weekly within replicates for each harvest date.

## G. Control

The efficacy of chickweed control with several registered and experimental herbicide treatments was studied in a greenhouse experiment and four field trials. Herbicides that were used in these experiments are listed in Table III.1.

## Greenhouse Experiment

Chickweed was seeded in 12.5-cm plastic pots that were placed in a growth room at 20°C. Four days after emergence, seedlings were thinned to eight per pot. Pots were sorted into replicates according to the size and vigor of the plants at the time of spraying. The experiment was a randomized complete block design with four replicates.

Herbicides were applied with a mechanical pot sprayer in 110 L/ha of water at 275 kPa using a TeeJet 8001E nozzle.

Table III.1 Herbicides Used for Control of Chickweed in Greenhouse and Field Trials

ъ.

Common Name	Chemical Name	Formulation <sup>4</sup>
A56331 (bromophenoxim	3,5-dibromo- 4-hydroxybenzaldehyde-0- (2',4'-dinitrophenyl)-oximine	FL
+ atrazine)	2-chloro-4-(ethylamino)- 6-isopropylamino-S-triazine	
Benazolin amine <sup>1</sup>	4-chloro-2-oxobenzothiazolin- 3-ylacetic acid	S
Bromoxynil <sup>1</sup>	3,5-dibromo- -4-hydroxybenzonitrile (ester of N-octanoic acid>	EC
Cyanazine + MCPA-K³	`2-[[4-chloro+6-(ethylamino) s-triazin-2-yl]amino]- 2-methylpropionitrile	FL
Dicamba +MCPA-K <sup>1 3</sup>	3,6-dichloro-0-anisic acid (dimethyl amine)	S
DPX 41891 ,	2-chloro-N-[(4-methoxy-6-methy1 1,3,5-triazin-2-y1) aminocarbony1]benzenesulfonamid	1980 DF
Linuron <sup>2</sup>	3-(3,4-dichlorophenyl)- 1-methoxy-1-methylurea	WP
MCPA amine <sup>1</sup>	[(4-chloro-0-tolyl)oxy]- acetic acid	Ş
Mecoprop	2-[(4-chloro-0-tolyl)oxy]- propionic acid (iso-octyl ester)	S
Metribuzin	4-amino-6- <i>tert</i> -butyl- 3(methylthio)- <i>as</i> -triazin- 5(4H)-one	FL
Propanil +MCPA ester <sup>1</sup> <sup>3</sup>	3',4'-dichloropropionanilide	EC
<sup>2</sup> Tank mix with <sup>3</sup> Commercial mix	d in Canada for chickweed control MCPA registered for chickweed co x.	ontrol.

<sup>4</sup> FL=flowable, DF=dry flowable, WP=wettable powder, EC=emulsifiable concentrate, S=solution

Applications were made when the chickweed had four pairs of true leaves or when it had seven to eight pairs of leaves. The plants were observed every 2 to 4 days and fresh weights were determined 28 days after spraying.

#### Field Experiments

Field experiments were set out in 1979 and 1980 on farmers' fields in the Bon Accord area. The soils were loam to silt loam with 10 to 13% organic matter. The experiment was done in two locations each year. Plots 2.9 x 5.5 m were marked in a randomized complete block design with four replicates. Herbicides were applied with a bicycle-type plot sprayer in 110 L/ha of water at 275 kPa using TeeJet 8001 nozzles. At, harvest, a sample was taken from each plot for determination of crop yield and dry weight of chickweed, except in experiment 80B where new growth of chickweed made results unreliable. The sample size was 0.84 m<sup>2</sup> in 1980. Chickweed control was scored on a scale of 0 to 9. Spray dates and growth stages are shown below.

		•					32
•	Expe	er imen t	Spray Date	Leaf	Stage	Harvest D	ate
	÷.			Crop	Weed		
, , , , , ,	79A		June 22	4-5	2-4 pr	August 28	
ی در ۱۹ بر ۲ بر د ۱۹ می مسید	79A	(lin/MCPA)	July 4	.7.	3-6 pr	August 28	
	79B	•	July 6	5-6	5-6 pr	August 28	•
	808	,	June 20	3-4	2-3 pr	September	3
	80B		June 14	-3-5	1-2 pr	September	3
	u j	•	•	- <b>1</b>	•		• •
•	۵					•	· · · /
. ,			•	1		· · · ·	× ),

#### IV. Results

#### A. Seed Germination

Monthly Germination Tests

Germination of untreated seed varied from month to month (Figure IV.1) Seed of lot 79A germinated considerably better than that of the other seed lots. This seed was collected from plants that were grown in the greenhouse and the pods were oven dried before threshing. The other two seed lots were collected in the field and air dried. The difference in origin and treatment of the seed may account for the difference in germination. Dormancy also may have been affected by the conditions prevailing while the seed was maturing on the plant. This possibility was not pursued so no conclusions can be drawn.

Seeds that were treated with gibberellic acid consistently germinated near 100%. Consistently high germination was observed in seeds of lots 79A and 79B when they were treated with potassium nitrate, however, germination of potassium nitrate treated seeds of lot 79C was variable from month to month. Gibberellic acid has been reported to overcome dormancy in some species (45). Corns (10) reported that presoaking in 0.05% or 0.1% gibberellic acid did not increase chickweed germination, however, it was effective on all three seed lots tested here. Potassium nitrate also has been used to break dormancy in chickweed



Figure IV.1 Germination of Chickweed Seed from Three Lots

seed (2). It was effective on all three seed lots, with some variability in the case of lot 79C.

Several authors (10, 15, 34) have reported that germination of chickweed seed increased after dry storage for 6 months to 3 years. No such trend was observed in this experiment.

Progeny of seed lots 79A, 79B and 79C was tested to determine if dormancy characteristics were inherited. Germination of untreated seed was less than 10% in all cases (Table IV.1). Treatment with gibberellic acid resulted in germination near 100%. Potassium nitrate treated seeds of 79A progeny germinated considerably better than those of 79B and 79C progeny. The second generation seed showed an increase in germination of untreated and potassium nitrate treated seed after dry storage for 6 weeks. The increase in germination of  $6_0$  week old seed, as compared with fresh seed, when treated with potassium nitrate, leads to the hypothesis that fully dormant seeds are not sensitive to potassium nitrate. These results contrast with those of the previous experiment and indicate that dormancy was probably lost during the three months in which the first seed lots were stored before germination tests were begun. Over time, the state of dormancy may change so that seeds become sensitive to potassium nitrate.

Untreated seeds of lot 79A germinated considerably better than those of lots 79B and 79C, however, progeny of 79A did not germinate as well as that of the other two seed

Parental Population	Treatment	Weeks after Collection			
		r	<b>*</b> 6		
79A	Control	$7.0 \pm 1.31$	14.5 ± 3.0 <sup>1</sup>		
	GA	100.0 ± 0	100.0 ± 0		
	KNO3	74.0 ± 5.3	90.0 ± 0.8		
79B	Control	$9.5 \pm 2.1$	34.0 ± 2.4		
	GA	100.0 ± 0	99.5 ± 0.5		
	KNO3	39.5 ± 7.3	64.5 ± 4.6		
79C	Control	$6.0 \pm 2.2$	22.0 ± 4.2		
	GA	99.0 ± 0.6	99.5 ± 0.5		
	KNO <sub>3</sub>	37.0 ± 3.1	68.5 ± 4.6		

Table IV.1 Percent Germination of Progeny of Seed Lots 79A, 79B and 79C

<sup>1</sup> Standard error based on four observations.

lots. In the first seed lots tested (Figure IV.1), potassium nitrate treated seed of lot 79C did not germinate as well as that of the other seed lots. In the second generation (Table IV.1), nitrate-treated 79C seed germinated as well as 79B, but neither germinated as well as 79A. It appears from these observations that dormancy characteristics in chickweed seed are not inherited, however, further study is required to draw firm conclusions.

### Cold Storage of Seed

D

Seeds of lot 79C showed a slow increase inpercentage germination over time when stored dry at 4°C (Figure IV.2). Seed that was stored moist at 4°C lost its dormancy quickly. Within one month of imposing the storage conditions, germination of this seed had increased from 25% to 88%.



Figure IV.2 Germination of Cold-Stored Chickweed Seeds

Germination remained high for four months after which the seed began to lose viability. The viability of chickweed seeds buried in the field has been shown to decline within 6 months of burial and to be lost entirely after 30 months (15). In other studies, chickweed seed was reported to retain viability for 10 years (47) and 30 years (12). In the former study, however, only 3% of the seeds buried at 20 cm were viable after 6 years. Darlington's report did not indicate the percentage germination, but stated that one or more seeds were viable after 30 years. It seems reasonable to conclude that most of the chickweed seed buried in the ploughed horizon in the field will remain viable for only a few years.

# Temperature for Germination

Chickweed seed of lot 78 germinated over a wide range of temperatures (Table IV.2). Seeds treated with gibberellic acid were assumed to be non-dormant. At intermediate temperatures (10 to 20°C), germination of these seeds was high but at 3°C and at 25°C it was poor. Seeds at 10°C required 5 days longer to reach maximum percentage germination than did those at higher temperatures. The few seeds that germinated at 3°C did so 26 to 31 days after they were moistened. Germination of untreated seeds was less than that of gibberellic acid treated seeds but both showed the same pattern in response to temperature.

Table IV.2 Effect of Imperature on Percent Germination of Chickweed Seed of Lot 78

Treatment	Germination (%)	Time to Peak Germination
Control GA	0 2 ± 0.5	1 month
Control	$13 \pm 3.1$	11-12 days
GA	77 ± 2.5	11-12 days
Control	25 ± 2.4	6-7 days
GA	78 ± 3.8	6-7 days
Control	30 ± 4.6	6-7 days
GA	78 ± 4.2	6-7 days
Control	2 ± 0.8	6-7 days
GA	6 ± 1.8	6-7 days
	Control GA Control GA Control GA Control GA	(%) Control 0 GA 2 ± 0.5 Control 13 ± 3.1 GA 77 ± 2.5 Control 25 ± 2.4 GA 78 ± 3.8 Control 30 ± 4.6 GA 78 ± 4.2 Control 2 ± 0.8

'Standard error based on four observations.

Seeds of rlot 79B were germinated at 8°C, 23°C 30°C. More than 95% of the seeds that were treated with gibberellic acid germinated at 8°C and 23°C, but only 16% germinated at 30°C. Seeds held at 8°C took about one week longer to reach maximum germination than did those held at 23°C. This experiment did not include a complete range of temperatures but the results support those reported for seed lot 78.

The optimum temperature for germination appears to lie in the range of 15 to 23°C. At 10°C, germination was high but slow. Germination was inhibited at 25°C and 3°C. The results obtained are similar to those reported by Roberts and Lockett (34). They reported the optimum constant temperature for germination of chickweed seed to be in the range of 12 to 20°C. Germination was reduced at 25°C an very few seeds germinated at 30°C.

Effect of Soil Applied Potassium Nitrate

Potassium nitrate was applied at three rates, to a soil low in nitrogen. Germination increased with nitrate applications (Table IV.3). A high percentage of the seeds germinated when 1200 ppm of potassium nitrate was added to the soil. This rate was equivalent to a field application of 250 kg/ha of nitrogen. It has been reported that germination of fresh chickweed seed is stimulated when soil rather than filter paper is used as a substrate (2). Soil nitrate level was not reported in that experiment but it may provide a partial explanation for the increase in germination observed on a soil substrate.

Depth of Seeding

Chickweed was seeded at depths ranging from the soil surface down to 5 cm (Table IV.4). Emergence was best from the 0.5 and 1.0 cm depths, while deeper seeding reduced emergence. No plants emerged from 5 cm; however, when the pots were emptied some germinated seeds were observed at that depth. Chickweed that was seeded at 2; and 3 cm emerged about 2 days later than that which was seeded more shallowly. Seeds placed on the surface of the soil did not germinate as well as those seeded shallowly. This was Tikely due to alternate wetting and drying experienced on the soil Table IV.3 Effect of Soil Applied Potassium Nitrate on Percent Germination of Chickweed Seed of Lot 79B

0

•

. ۲

J

ή.

÷.

41

	ium Nitrate splied	Germination %
<b>ppm</b> NO <sub>3</sub>	" kg/ha N in top 10 cm	•
0 60 300 1200	0 12 60 250	$40 \pm 5.41$ $46 \pm 10.6$ $72 \pm 6.0$ $94 \pm 2.6$

4.

1Standard error based on four observations.

6-1-

Table IV.4 Effect of Depth of Seeding on Percent Emergence of Chickweed Seedlings from Seed Lot 79A

Depth cm	Emergence
surface 0.5 1.0 2.0 3.0 5.0	$\begin{array}{r} 66 \pm 3.11 \\ 89 \pm 5.8^2 \\ 89 \pm 4.41 \\ 48 \pm 8.3 \\ 13 \pm 6.4 \\ 0 \pm 0 \end{array}$

<sup>1</sup>Standard error based on four observations. <sup>2</sup>Standard error based on three observations. surface. Buried seeds had a more constant moisture supply and thus germination was more complete.

Duer (14) reported that chickweed seedlings emerged best from depths of 0.6 and 1.2 cm and emergence decreased as depth of seeding increased. In his experiment, a few seedlings emerged from 5 cm but none emerged from 7.8 cm.

### B. Growth and Development

The growth and development of chickweed plants. in the greenhouse is summarized in Table IV.5. The plants were initially erect but became prostrate as they grew. They grew rapidly and branched profusely during the vegetative phase. Generally, at least one lateral branch arose from each node on the main stem and much secondary branching occurred. Flowering was continual and occurred over a long period as progressively younger branches began to flower. In, the flowering phase, one flower arose from each node and branching proceeded as illustrated in Figure IV.3.

Leaves in the vegetative phase were ovate and petiolate. In the flowering phase, they were narrower and sessile. The largest leaves were found at or near the node bearing the first flower, on each branch. New leaves produced were progressively larger until flowering began while leaves produced later remained smaller. The longest internodes were also found in the early flowering phase of the plant.

Table IV.5 Summary of Growth and Development of Chickweed in the Greenhouse

### Days After Emergence

- 4 First pair of true leaves on main stem.
- 8 Second pair of leaves.
- 10 Third pair of leaves. Branches developing in axils of the cotyledonary leaves.

15 Fourth pair of leaves. Branches developing in axils of first true leaves. Second branch developing in axil of each cotyledonary leaf. Plants are taking on a prostrate habit.

- 17 Fifth pair of leaves. Branches growing in axils of second pair of leaves and from lowest leaf axils on oldest branches.
- 24 Six to seven pairs of leaves on main stem. Flowers open on main stem. Branching continues.
- 26 Two or three flowers or buds on main stem. One flower bud on each of the lowest branches.

29-32 Fruit set from first flowers.

- . 44
- Some of the oldest leaves are becoming chlorotic.



44

Figure IV.3 Flowering Branch of Chickweed Showing Attachment of Flowers and Type of Branching

Growth and development of chickweed plants in the field was similar to that of plants grown in the greenhouse. The length of time from emergence to flowering was about 40 days. This was slightly longer than for the greenhouse plants; however, in the field more leaf pairs were produced before flowering began. Figure IV.4 illustrates plants growing in the field. The first flowers were produced on the main stem, followed shortly by flowers produced on the oldest branches. Progressively younger branches continued to come into flower over a period of four to five weeks. During the latter half of the flowering period, the leaves and stems began to yellow. By the third week of July, about 80 days after emergence, flowering ceased. Each of the three oldest stems produced eight to eleven flowers. Fewer flowers may have been produced on younger stems but this was not confirmed. The leaves were senescent and stems were yellow and broke easily at the nodes. At the same time, there were some new green branches near the base of the plants. This new growth was in flower by the beginning of September. These flowering stems developed more slowly than those produced in July, likely due to lower temperatures in the fall. The plants appeared much the same in mid-October as they had in September. The final observation was made in late November. During the latter half of October and in November, freezing temperatures occurred regularly with overnight lows commonly in the -1 to -7 C range. Stems appeared dry and brown. They were still supporting green



Figure IV.4 Growth of Chickweed Plants in the Field Days after Emergence: A. 20 days B. 27 days C. 42 days D. 54 days E. 62 days F. 80 days

> Coloured Paper Papier de couleur

N.

o

46

leaves and flower buds on the tips of many branches but most of the leaves were dead.

The largest leaves on field-grown plants were found in the early flowering portion of the plant as shown in Table IV.6. The longest internodes were also found in this portion of the plant (Table IV.7) and thus the flowering stems were much longer than the rest of the plant. The stems in the flowering portion of the plant appeared to be thicker than those in the vegetative portion.

The shape of leaves in the vegetative and flowering portions of the plant was compared by means of a leaf ratio that was calculated by dividing the length of the leaf by its width. Leaves in the vegetative phase of the plant were broader than those in the flowering phase. The leaf ratio for vegetative stage leaves ranged from 1.1 to 1.5, while in the flowering phase the leaf ratio was 1.6 to 2.3. These results are similar to those presented by Komatsu (24) for Stellaria neglecta, however, she described a

'fructification' stage which could not be differentiated from the flowering stage in the data collected here. Additional data on leaf ratios were collected in experiments dealing with the effects of light, temperature and competition and are reported with those experiments. Leaf ratio was not affected by light or competition; however, at high temperatures very narrow leaves were produced. Chickweed flowers remain open only one day and most

flowers are fertilized and produce capsules. Capsule and

- 47

Table IV.6 Length of Leaves at Various Positions on Field Grown Chickweed 

Position of Leaf	Date Observed	Leaf Length ~ (cm)
Vegetative Vegetative Node below first flower At first flower At third flower Third from top (about seventh flower)	May 29 June 6 June 13 July 3 July 3 July 21	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$

<sup>1</sup>Standard error based on four observations. <sup>2</sup>Standard error based on three observations.

• . • . •

. . . . .

Table IV.7 Length of Internodes at Various Positions on Field Grown Chickweed

• 1

. .

Position of Internode	•	Date Observed	Internode Length (cm)
Vegetative Vegetative Below first flower Above first flower Above second flower Fourth from top (about sixth flower)		May 29 June 6 June 25 July 3 July 3 July 21	$\begin{array}{r} 1.3 \pm 0.06^{1} \\ 1.5 \pm 0.11 \\ 3.5 \pm 0.51 \\ 6.5 \pm 0.68 \\ 9.3 \pm 0.10 \\ 6.0 \pm 0.50^{2} \end{array}$

1Standard error based on four observations. <sup>2</sup>Standard error based on three observations.

•••

• 1

seed development takes place rapidly. A description of capsules and seeds collected seven to 11 days after flowering is provided in Table IV.8. The capsules became translucent and dry as they aged. Once they reached this stage, they split readily when touched and could likely be opened, in the field, by wind or animal activity. By the time the pods split readily, most of the seeds were brown and firm.

Seeds collected 7 to 11 days after flowering were tested for viability. Dormancy was overcome with gibberellic acid and all seeds germinated well (Table IV.9). Seven day seeds were still soft and moist and under field conditions they may not survive long enough to germinate. The radicle that emerged from these seeds was spindly and the seedlings would not likely emerge.

Some chickweed seedlings emerged with three cotyledonary leaves and three such plants were observed during their subsequent growth. Branches produced on all three plants had two leaves at each node, and each plant reverted to the normal two leaves per node, on the main stem, before flowering began. In one case, the main stem had whorls of three leaves at each node until just before it flowered. The leaf pair before the first flower was made up of one normal leaf and one which was cupped and had the appearance of two leaves per node beginning with the first true leaves. The third plant was intermediate between the other Table IV.8 Development of Chickweed Seed Pods

•

n

Days After Flowering		Pod	Description of Pod and Seeds
7	3-5		Pods exserted from calyx, green. Stigma attached. Pods do not split readily. Seeds soft, moist, white, 1 mm
			diameter.
- 8	- 4-6	1	Pods similar to day 7. Seeds firmer, some are beginning to turn brown.
9	4-6		Pods green, becoming translucent. Pods split readily when squeezed.
	•	·	Stigma still attached. Some seeds white, but most are light to medium brown.
10	4-6		Pods translucent. Many pods are open, those that are not split readily when squeezed.
· · · ·		•	Stigmas still attached to closed pods.
			Seeds medium brown, 1 mm diameter.
11	4-6		Pods and seeds similar to day 10.
•	•	•	Most pods are open.
			o
		· ·	and a second

50

`

.

:

**~~** 

Table IV.9 Germination of Chickweed Seeds Collected Seven to Eleven Days After Flowering

Days After Flowering to Seed Collection

8

7

Germination (%)

on the latter two plants were normal.

Chickweed seedlings set out in the field in the fall did not survive the winter. Observations of mature plants in my yard, in Edmonton, indicated that they are more likely to survive the winter than are seedlings. Some of these plants still had green leaves on the tips of a few branches when the snow melted in late March. They were similar in appearance to the plants observed in the field in late fall. By mid-April, however, the green portions were all dead. It is quite likely that the plants were unable to withstand the daily temperature fluctuations in the spring without an insulating snow cover. Given ideal conditions, chickweed could possibly overwinter in northern Alberta, however, this is not likely to occur except in isolated instances. C. Light

Chickweed was grown under four light intensities:

Level 1	E/m²/sec عبر 10-24
Level 2	45-60 µE/m²/sec
Level 3	E/m²/secبر 190-240
Level 4	385-430 μE/m²/sec

Dry weight increased with light intensity during the course of this experiment (Figure IV.5). The rate of growth of plants at 400  $\mu$ E/m<sup>2</sup>/sec began to decrease 7 weeks after emergence, and at the final harvest the dry weight of plants grown at 200  $\mu$ E/m<sup>2</sup>/sec was almost equal to that of plants grown at the higher light level.

There was no difference in length of the main stem between plants grown at the two lowest light intensities (Figure IV.6) but stems became shorter as light intensity increased above 50  $\mu$ E/m<sup>2</sup>/sec. Five weeks after emergence, the main stems of plants grown at 200 and 400  $\mu$ E/m<sup>2</sup>/sec had almost stopped growing while those at lower light levels continued to grow throughout the experiment. The length of the newest expanded internode decreased with increasing light intensity (Figure IV.7). The difference between treatments increased with time. Very short internodes were produced on plants grown at the two higher light intensities; first on those grown at 400  $\mu$ E/m<sup>2</sup>/sec and later also on those grown at 200  $\mu$ E/m<sup>2</sup>/sec.

Initially, leaf length was not affected by light intensity (Figure IV.8), however, 6 weeks after emergence,

52

÷.



Figure IV.5 Shoot Dry Weight as Influenced by Light Intensity



Figure IV.6 Main Stem Length as Influenced by Light



plants grown at 400  $\mu$ E/m<sup>2</sup>/sec began to produce smaller leaves than those that received less light. As with the internodes, small leaves were produced first on plants grown at 400  $\mu$ E/m<sup>2</sup>/sec and later also on those grown at 200  $\mu$ E/m<sup>2</sup>/sec leaf length decreased with time under all right intensities, but the decrease was more rapid at the higher light levels. The leaf ratio (length:width) was not affected by light intensity. It ranged from 1.1 to 1.6 for leaves in the vegetative portion of the plant.

The general appearance of the plants is shown in Figure IV.9. Chickweed grown at 15 µE/m<sup>2</sup>/sec was unbranched. The stems were weak and could not support themselves. Leaves and stems were green. With a light intensity of 50  $\mu r/m^2/sec$ . the plants appeared much the same as those with less light, , but they were larger and had branches from the cotyledonary E/m<sup>2</sup>/sec initially الم E/m<sup>2</sup>/sec initially resembled those grown at lower light levels but later came to resemble those grown at 400  $\mu E/m^2/sec$ . They will be described in detail later so compare sons can be made with all other 'treatment's. Plants grown at 400 µE/m²/sec branched freely. They were more compact, with short internodes, and appeared stiffer than the others. The stems were thick and short, leaves appeared waxy and the plants were prostrate. A month after emergence, the stems and leaf tips were red. The following, week the colour had deepened to a dark red-purple and the antire leaf margin was coloured. Senespence of older leaves had begun by this time and only two to thread

· · · •

56 い




Figure IV.9 Chickweed Plants Grown at Varying Light Intensities, 63 Days After Emergence

a

ç

Ģ

# COLOURED PAPER PAPIER DE COULEUR

pairs of leaves at the branch tips were still green. The slowing of dry weight production by these plants that was observed towards the end of the experiment may be related to this early senescence. The plants grown at 200  $\mu$ E/m<sup>2</sup>/sec branched more freely than those grown at lower light levels but initially they had the same general appearance. The internodes were long and the plants were green and semi-erect. Six weeks after emergence, these plants began to resemble those grown at 400  $\mu$ E/m<sup>2</sup>/sec. Shorter internodes and smaller leaves were produced and the stems and leaf tips became dark red. These plants also lost many of their blder leaves, but the rate of dry matter production had not decreased by the end of the experiment.

Chickweed plants were observed in the field in varying habitats under light intensities ranging from 14 to 1650  $\mu$ E/m<sup>2</sup>/sec. There was no obvious relationship between light intensity and leaf length or leaf ratio. The leaf ratio ranged from 1.1 to 1.4 for leaves in the vegetative portion of the plant while leaves in the flowering phase had ratios of 1.5 to 2.0. Stems and leaves of plants growing in locations with less than 100  $\mu$ E/m<sup>2</sup>/sec light did not show any relicibuir. At higher light intensities, red stems were found on about half of the plants observed, but there was no apparent relationship with light intensity in the range of 100 to 1000  $\mu$ E/m<sup>2</sup>/sec. Where plants grew in the open under high light intensities, they were prostrate. Chickweed growing with a crop or with other tall plants was supported to

of the amount of light received.

Chickweed was capable of growing and flowering under very low light intensities. Flowers were produced on plants growing at 15  $\mu$ E/m<sup>2</sup>/sec in the field and in the growth cabinet. Growth of these plants was slow but steady. The response to high light intensity in the growth cabinet was not comparable with field observations. In the field, light intensity varies due to shading and weather conditions and photoperiod varies. Plants grown in the growth cabines received a constant light intensity and photoperiod. They quite likely received as much total radiant energy as plants growing in field locations where measured light intensities were considerably higher. The spectral quality of the light may also affect the observed plant responses. Chickweed grown under the highest light level in the growth cabinet had short, thick stems, short internodes, small, thick leaves and red stems and leaf margins. These plants became senescent much earlier than those at lower light levels. The effect of high light intensity seemed to be cumulative as the plants grown at the next highest light intensity developed these characteristics in the latter part of the sampling period. Plants grown under low light intensities were weak-stemmed and had long internodes and larger leaves. These trends could not be picked out in field observations, possibly because the sample size was small and because many other variables such as temperature and shading were not

taken into consideration.

#### D. Temperature

Dry weight, internode length and leaf length are presented in Figures IV.10, IV.11 and IV.12. Data collected more than 45 days after emergence of the chickweed are not shown. These data were inconsistent because flowering occurred irregularly and all the plant characteristics that were measured were affected by flowering. Chickweed plants grown at 30°C yellowed soon after being placed in the incubator and died within 25 days of emergence.

Dry weight increased throughout the experiment except in the case of plants grown at 30°/20°C. These plants showed dry weight increases for about a month and then their growth slowed considerably. The greatest amount of dry matter was produced by plants grown at 8°C. Dry matter production decreased with increasing temperature.

The length of the main stem was variable and no difference was apparent between treatments. Internode and leaf lengths were also variable but internodes and leaves on plants grown at 8°C were clearly longer than those on plants grown at higher temperatures. The length of newly produced internodes and leaves declined as the plants grew older until flowering began, especially at 8°C and 16°C. Leaves on plants grown at 30°C and 30°/20°C were narrow in comparison with other leaves. The leaf ratio (length:width) for leaves in the vegetative portion of these plants ranged from 1.5 to





Figure IV.11 Internode Length of Chickweed as Affected by Temperature



ľ.



2.6. Leaf ratios for vegetative stage leaves on plants grown at the three lower temperatures ranged from 1.1 to 1.5.

Plants grown\_at 30°/20°C were abnormal in their growth habit (Figure IV.13). They branched freely but the branches were erect rather than spreading. Petioles and leaves were long. Plants grown at 8°C and 16°C were darker green and showed more red coloration than those grown at higher temperatures.

## E. Soil Water Content

Chickweed plants were watered daily or after they were allowed to dry until they were on the point of wilting, until they were first visibly wilted or while they had been willted for 2 days. Leaves were shed from all plants which . were not watered daily, particularly those which remained wilted for 2 days at a time. The water stress to which chickweed plants were subjected in this experiment did not kill any of the plants, but growth decreased visibly with restriction of available water (Table IV. 10). The difference in dry weight between treatments increased with time. Stem length also decreased with declining water supply (Table IV, 11). These observations were not unexpected because cellular growth is sensitive to water stress (38). The length of internodes and the size of leaves were not affected by water stress, nor was the leaf ratio (length:width)

J

•

•

66

Figure IV.13 Chickweed Plants Grown at Varying Temperatures

-

Table IV.10 Dry Matter Production of Chickwood Grown Under Four Soil Moisture Conditions

•	Treatment		Dry June 16	leight (m Gervest Da June 27	yplant) ite July 7	7
Dried t	daily the point	t	1575 a' 750 b	3160 a 2105 b	6697 a 3467 b	~
Allowed	vilting to wilt 2 days		542 bc 347, c	1590 bc 945 c	2680 °c 1550 d	•

Numbers within columns followed by the same letter are not significantly different at the 95% level, according to Duncan's multiple range test:

Table IV. 11 Stem Length of Chickweed Grown Under Four Soil Moisture Conditions

	Trestmont	•		Harvest	ength(ca Date	
			June 16	June	27	July 7
	d daily		19 01	38 a 25 b	45	8
of	to the poin wilting	I <b>L</b>	, <b>17 (4</b> .			b
	d to wilt 2 days		14 c. 1 12 d	26 b 16 ¢	32 22	b

'Numbers within columns followed by the same lifer are not significantly different at the 95% level, according to Duncan's multiple range test. The experiment was done to determine if chilling d was capable of surviving in dry situations. It did survive the conditions that were imposed, but no other species were included in the experiment for comparison. In an experiment by Wrese and Vandiver (54), ten plant species were grown together under three soil moisture regimes, Six of the ten species produced more dry matter on wet soil than on dry soil, two species were unaffected by soil moisture and two species produced more growth on dry soil than on wet soil. Although experimental conditions were not the same in the two studies, it is likely that chickweed was not as well adapted to low soil moisture conditions as were the latter four species in these and Vandiver's studies and it would likely be at a competitive disadventage with at Teest some species, under low soil moisture conditions.

### Sompet it ion

Intrasport to Couple it ten

Chickweed was grown stops to densities randoms from 1 to 100 plants per 12.5-cm pot. At the first sampling time, dry weight per pot increased with increasing density (Figure IV.14). Later harvests showed a lawelling off of dry weight per pot at a density of 10 to 25 plants per pot. Compatition for resources limited the growth of individual plants at the higher densities and resulted in a limit to the second of dry matter produced in one pot. At the first harvest, the was a limited to compatible occurring between plants at



densities of 50 and 100 plants per pot, resulting in a decrease in dry weight per plant at those densities (Figure W.11). At later harvests, the dry weight per plant declined by with increasing density to 10 plants per pot. At higher densities, dry weight per plant declined more slowly. Length of the main stem was greater at high densities than at lower ones at the first two harvests (Table LV.12).
Plants in the high density treatments shaded each other early in their development. And therefore elongated rapidly.
By the second harvest, plants at medium ensities had caught

up with those at higher densities, and at the final harvest there was no difference in height due to treatment. Size of the earliest leaves produced was not affected by competition among the plants, but there was some effect on leaves produced later in the vegetative state. The fourth true leaf, measured it is second harvest, showed a slight decline in length with density, especially above 25 plants per pot. Length of these leaves at the highest density was about half that of leaves at the leaves in the

reproductive portion of the plant. By the time the plants reached that stage, growth had levelled off and there was a similar amount of plant material in each pot so these leaves were produced under similar conditions regardless of initial density.

The leaf ratio (length whith) was not affected by density. It was to is for leaves in the vegetative part



Density

5

10

4.3

Obiologent	•		Main	Stem Leng	th (cm)	••
Chickweed		- ` Days	; from	Emergence	sto Harv	/88
(plants	(pot)					. <b>-</b>

25 50 100		7; •.		4 c 0 b 1 a	.0 a .4 a .0 a .9 a	1
  itbån	۰. ب		3. 	- <b>#</b> ,	•	

e1

0 de

4 e 17.6 Б

15.6 Ь

16.9

50 3

by the same letter angunot 101-10 significantly different at level according to Duncan's multiple range test

of the plant, 1.4 to 1.7 for leaves immediately below the first flower, 1.7 to 2.0 for leaves at the first flower and 2.0 to 2.4 for leaves at the third flower. These leaf ratio agree quite closely with those reported by Komatsu (23) for Stellaria neglecta.

Branching was reduced when chickweed was grown at densities above 10 plants per pot. Chlorosis of the lower leaves progressed most quickly at high densities, likely due to lack of light near the base of the plant mass. It was quite moist within the chickweed stand, panticularly where there was a high diasity of plants. Many adventitious root

were formed on the lower part of the stems when the blue to were grown at densities greater than 10 plants per pot. At

lower densities, the stands were not as moist and the plants did not root as freely, Some adventitious Poots were still

formed, mainly at nodes that touched the ground.

Competition with Barley

Regression equations were calculated and are shown on the graphs. The coefficients of determination  $(r^2)$  indicate the percentage of the relationship between the variables that is described by the regression equation.

The first experiment in this series was designed to test the effect of chickweed density on barley growth. Four barley plants were seeded with 1 to 100 chickweed plants in 12.5-cm pots. As expected, barley dry weight declined as chickweed density increased, (Figure IV.16). Fifteen days after emergence, the decline in barley dry weight for slight but it increased as time went on. The greatest decline in barley dry weight with increasing chickweed density was observed at the final harvest, 35 days after emergence of the plents.

At the first harvest, the barley had not yet begun to tiller. During the course of the experiment not all barley plants tillered at any given chickweed density, nor did many plants produce more than one tiller. The maximum number of tillers was observed at the second harvest; after which some

tillers were lost. The data were somewhat variable, but there was a definite. Frand toward fewer tillers as chickweed

density increased up to 25 plants per pot (Pigure IV. 17). The dimensionment of leaf stage and growth in height of the barley were not affected by chickweed at any of the



Figure IV.16 Deries Dry Weight as Affected by Competition which Chicowsed at Densities from 1 to 100 Plants per 12.5-000 Not

Binte oldunet are the

Plotter are the average of four observations.



Figure IV.17 Maximum Number of Barley Tillers per as Affected by Competition with Chickwood at Dens: 1. to 100 Flants per 12 Jacks Bor PI ant Mased on 22 state as an

observations

## densities used.

In an experiment by Mann and Barnes (26) with two barley plant and one to eight chickweed plants per pot, tillering was reduced by all chickweed densities, and the shoot weight of barley was reduced by 50 to 90% from the control. In contrast, the results reported here show much smaller reductions in dry matter produced by barley in competition with chickweed. The difference in results cannot be fully explained by the difference in barley density. It is likely than variations in growing conditions and mossibly and chickweed ecotype play major reles in barley cut the outcome of competition between the two species. These experiments indicate that chickweed has the potential to reduce barley yields, but no conclusions can be made regarding the extent of yield reduction except under the conditions of a given experiment.

Two other experiments in this series were designed to study the effect of the time of emergence of a constant density of chickweed on barley growth. Chickweed was grown at density of 35 plants per 12.5-cm pot in the first experiment and 15 plants per pot in the second experiment, with planting timed to result in emergence from about 2 weeks before to 2 weeks after the barley.

When chickweed was grown at a density of 35 plants per pot, ban ley dry weight was reduced with earlier emergence of the chickweed (Figure IV. 18). This trend increased with time so that the greatest **24 Farmer** between treatments was



Figure IV. W Barley Dry Weight as Midsched by Time of Desremtion of Chickweed at a Density of 35 Flants per Second on 25 Contents of Sourceston. Possis photocology the swarage of Four observations.

observed at the last harvest. When the chickweed emerged 15 days before the barley, the barley grew very little. The rate of barley growth increased with later emergence of the chickweed.

78

Ê.

The barley plants tillered but some tillers were lost before the third harvest. Data for the second harvest, the maximum number of tillers, are shown (Figure IV.19). No tillers were produced when the chickweed emerged 8 or 15 days before the barley. The number of tillers produced increased rapidly during the period of chickweed emergence from 5 days before to 4 day after the barley, while later emerging chickweed had little affect on barley tillering. The number of the bads produced per pot was recorded at the final harvest, 45 days after emergence (Figure IV.20). Heading was not complete at this time and there were some tillers still in the boot stage. These were not counted as heads. Early emerging chickweed reduced barley heading. When

the weed emerged 15 days before the bartey, no heads were produced. Maximum heading, in pots-containing chickweed, was reached when the chickweed and barley emerged together; however, the number of heads produced in these pots did not approach the number produced in weedfree pots. This

discrepancy is not explained readily as the chickweed that emerged 14 days after the barley did not grow to a height of more than 7 cm and it seems unlikely that this would provide sufficient competition to reduce barley heading?



Figure IV. 19 Maximum Munder of Millers per Serley Plant as Affected by Various Munde of Sectors of Chickwood at a Densing of 35 Plants ser 12.5 cm Pot



The rate of development of barley, as indicated by leaf stage, was slowed considerably when chickweed emerged 15 days before the barley. Thirty days after emergence, the barley in that treatment had an average of 2.8 leaves. The average barley leaf stage when chickweed emerged later ranged from 6.48 to 2,5, 30 days after barley emergence.

The height of barley plants was variable, but when chickweed emerging 15 days before the barley, the barley was only about half as tall as it was impother treatments. At the final harvest, barley grown in competition with the earliest emerging chickweed was 36 cm tall, while plants in the other treatments ranged from 85 to 98 cm in height.

Chickweed growth was affected by its interaction with barley. When it memorged 15 days before the barley, chickweed grew rapidly. In contrast, when it emerged 14 days after the barley it grew very little in the month before the experiment was terminated

The second experiment in which the time of emergence of chickweed was verted had a density of 15 chickweed plants per pot. The times of emergence were shiller to those in the previous experiment: In this experiment, there was a reduction in barley dry weight with earlies emergence of chickweed (Figure 1V 21), however, the effect of chickweed. On barley was less than in the previous experiment. The rate of dry walter production by balles in this experiment was markedly lower than in the previous cost. Was was hikely due to differences in greenbouse growing called tions between the



two experiments. The greenhouse temperature was about 5°C higher in this experiment than in the previous one. The difference in timing of the harvests should also be noted. As a result of these variations in procedure it is necessary to take great care in making comparisons between the two experiments.

There were very few tillers produced in this experiment, and there was no treatment effect on tiller production. It was expected that more tillering would occur in this experiment with a lower density of chickweed than in the previous one, however, this did not occur. This result is also likely due to differences in growing conditions \* between the two experiments.

The rate of development of the barley was affected only when the chickweed emerged 15 days before the barley. At the final harvest, 34 days after emergence, the average leaf stage of barley plants in competition with the darliest emerging chickweed was 3.5. Plants in the other treatments had 6 to 7 leaves at that time. These results are similar to those of the previous experiment.

Barley height was variable, as it was in the previous experiment, but again it was clear that when chickweed emerged 15 days before the barley, the barley grew very slowly. It attained a height of 37 cm, in this treatment, by the final harvest, whereas barley in the other treatments was 69 to 75 cm tall.

The rate of chickweed dry matter production was " affected by competition with the barley in a manner similar to the previous experiment. When chickweed emerged 12 days after the barley, it grew very fittle. Earlier emerging chickweed grew more rapidly.

The effect of chickweed on barley in this experiment was apparent mainly when chickweed emerged 15 days before the barley. This early emerging chickweed reduced barley dry weight and slowed development through the leaf stages and growth in height of the barley. Generally, the effect of chickweed on barley was similar to that observed in the previous experiment, but it was less severe with the lower density used in this experiment. The exception to this occurred when chickweed emerged 15 days before the barley. In this case, barley growth was severely affected in both experiments. In both experiments, the rate of chickweed dry matter production was reduced by competition with barley. The later emerging chickweed grew slowly in comparison with that which emerged 15 days before the barley.

The experiments in this series indicate that chickweed is very plastic in its growth in response to the density at which it emerges. A small number of chickweed plants are capable of producing as much dry matter as a large number of plants, where resources are limited. Competition with barley reduced this ability somewhat, however, it appears that the density of chickweed was not as critical to its competitive effects on barley as was its time of emergence. When

chickweed emerged 2 weeks before the barley, its density was not important. When the two species emerged together, increasing chickweed density had some effect on barley but it was not as great as the effect of early emergence of chickweed.

These pot exteriments were designed to minimize the differences between growing conditions in pots and in the field as much as possible. The pots were shielded to provide support for the chickweed plants, which they would receive from other plants in the field, and to reduce incident light from the sides of the pots. An attempt was made to maintain fertility, and the plants were not left to maturity in order to reduce the effect of limited rooting volume. It is apparent that chickweed has the ability to reduce barley growth and heading under the circumstances of these experiments; however, they provide only an indication of what may happen in a field situation. Field experiments would be necessary to make an accurate assessment of that situation.

#### G. Control

## Greenhouse Experiment

The herbicides used in this experiment were divided into two groups that were handled as separate experiments. Both groups were sprayed when the chickweed had four leaf pairs or when it had seven to eight leaf pairs. Linuron/MCPA was included in both groups for comparison. Control with

this treatment was slightly better in the first group than in the second group, especially at the lower rate (Tablès IV.13 and IV.14). A significant difference between groups (Student's t-test, 95% phebability) was found only for the lower rate of linumen/MCPA sprayed on plants with seven to eight leaf pairs. The MCPA in this mixture caused chickweed leaves and stems to curl up one day after spraying. The leaves remained small and eventually became necrotic. Linuron/MCPA was most effective when sprayed on young plants.

Plants sprayed with metribuzin showed interveinal necrosis 4 to 5 days after spraying. This symptom was first observed on the upper leaves just below the growing point, the youngest leaves present at the time of spraying. Necrosis progressed to the older and younger leaves until the plants died.

One day after spraying with cyanazine/MCPA, chickweed leaves were curled in response to the MCPA in the mixture. The leaves became necrotic and eventually most plants died. Almost all of the surviving plants were those treated with 0.45 kg/ha at the early growth stage. Control in this case was variable between replicates. Contrary to observations of linuron/MCPA, cyanazine/MCPA provided better control when sprayed on older plants.

Chickweed plants treated with mecoprop showed epinastic<sup>®</sup> symptoms one day after spraying. The plants grew slowly and most of them died. This treatment was most effective when

Table IV.13 Control of Greenhouse-Grown Chickweed with Various Herbicide Treatments Applied when the Plants had Four Leaf Pairs

Treatment	Rate kg/ha	Mean Score 1	Fresh Wt. 28 days	Spraying to
Group A	•	25 days	g/pół	Plant Death
Control	1. A. A.	Ö	11.3.a*,	
Linuron/MCPA	0.1+0.3 0.2+0.6	9.0 9.0	0 c 0 c	, 21-22 14-15
Metribuzin	0.15 0.3	9.0 9.0	0'C 0 C	15-19 15-19
Cyanazine/MCPA	0.15+0.3 0.3+0.6	6.0 8.3	2.8 b 0.4 c	· 21
Mecoprop •	0.45 0.9	* 8,3 9.0	0.2 c 0 c	21
DPX 4189	0.01 0.02	9.0 9.0	0 c 0 c	25 25
Group B		•	•	
Control		.0	12.8 a	
Linuron/MCPA	0.1+0.3 0.2+0.6	7.8 9.0	3.2 cde 0 f	11-14
A5633	0.4 0.8	6.5 7.5	4.3 c 1.6 def	•
A5633/MCPA	0.3+0.15 0.6+0.8	4.5	8.1 b 2.9 cde	
Benazolin	0.35 0.7	°7.0 8.0	3.7 cd 1.2 ef	

<sup>1</sup>Chickweet Control was scored on a scale of 0 tars <sup>2</sup>Numbers within columns followed by the same significantly different at the 95% level accord Duncan's multiple range test.

ปีม

splants did not die before termination of the experiment

87

not

Table IV.14 Control of Greenhouse-Grown Chickweed with Various Herbicide Treatments Appled when the Plants had Seven to Eight Leaf Pairs

¥e.

Trea tinen t	Rate kg/ha	Neen Scone 1	20 CEYS	Days from. Spraying to
Group A		25 days	g/pot	Plant Death
Control		D	19.4 a <sup>2</sup>	ester F.
Linuron/MCPA	0.1+0.3 0.2+0.6	6.8 9.0	4.1 b 0 c	- 3 25
Metribuzin	• 0.15 0.3	9.0 9.0,	0 a 0 a	15-19 15-19
Cyanazine/MCPA	0.15+0.3 0.3+0.6	9.0 *9.0	0 a 0 a	<b>2</b> 2
Mecoprop	0,45 0.9	6.5 8.8	3.8.b 0 a	25
Group B			•	
Contro1	•	· 0.	17.9 a	
Linuron/MCPA	0.1+0.3 0.2+0.6	4.8 8.5	10.3 b .	- 25
DPX 4189	0.01	8.3 8.0	1.5 c 1.3 c	
A5633	0.4	3.5 7.0	9.4 b 2.4 c	4
A5633/MCPA	0.3+0.15	3.5 6.3	8.9 b 3.8 c	a) 🖡
<b>Benazolin</b>	0.35 0.7	7.0 8.0	10.3 b	

"Chickweed control was scored on a scale of 0 to 9.

Ł

<sup>2</sup>Numbers within columns followed by the same letter are not significantly different at the 95% level according to Duncan's multiple range test.

\*Plants did not die before termination of the experiment.

1.5

51

. . . . . . - **1** 

6

4

Ø ....

applied at the earlier growth stage.

Plants treated with DPX 4189 showed slight chlorosis on the young leaves about 4 days after spraying. These leaves became necrotic and the plants did not grow. The lower leaves dried up and the plants treated at the early stage died. At the end of the experiment, the youngest leaves were still alive, but chlorotic, on plants sprayed at the later stage.

On plants treated with A5633, the young leaves became chlorotic and some necrotic spotting occurred about 3 days after spraying. The necrosis became more general and some plants died. When A5633 was mixed with MCPA, the MCPA caused leaves and petioles to curl one day after spraying. These symptoms disappeared and after about 8 days slight chlorosi's and necrotic spotting appeared. The MCPA did not appear to enhance chickweed control with this mixture. In fact, control with A5633/MCPA was less than with A5633 alone, likely as a result of/ the lower rate of A5633 applied in the mixture.

Benazolin caused epinastic symptoms one day after spraying. Leaf and stem curling soon became severed The stems turned white, nodes were swollen and masses of adventitious roots broke the epidermis at the nodes. The young leaves and flowers were very small and did not expand. Plants began to show chlorosis 15 to 20 days after spraying and many plants died. There was a greater rate response when benazolin was applied at the later growth stage than when it

Ø.

was applied to young plants. The final dry weight of plants treated with benazolin did not fully reflect the degree of control achieved. The dry weights were quite high but the plants, were severely deformed and would likely be killed by crop competition in a field situation.

All of the herbicides tested showed some degree of control of chickweed at both growth stages. The efficacy of most of the chemicals was not affected by the growth stage at which they were applied. Good to excellent control was obtained with metribuzin, DPX 4189, benazolin and the higher rates of linuron/MCPA, cyanazine/MCPA, mecoprop and A5633. Control was fair with the higher rate of A5633/MCPA and poor with the lower rate. The remaining treatments varied in their efficacy depending on the growth stage at which they were applied. Control with the lower rate of linuron/MCPA and mecoprop was good when herbicides were applied early, but only fair control was achieved when they were applied later. In contrast, the lower rate of cyanazine/MCPA provided better control when it was applied to the older plants than when it was applied to young plants. Control with the lower rate of A5633 was fair at the early stage and poor at the later growth stage.

#### Field Experiments

In 1979, all treatments except dicamba/MCPA and propanil/MCPA provided good to excellent control of chickweed that had two to four pairs of true leaves at spray time (Table IV.15). The results were similar at both locations. The two treatments that were ineffective in 1979 were not included in the 1980 experiments. Metribuzin and DPX 4189 provided excellent control in 1980. Control of chickweed with two to three pairs of leaves was fair to good with the remaining treatments (Table IV.16), except with 0.3 + 0.5 kg/ha of bromoxynil/mecoprop which gave poor control. Plots in a second location (Table IV.17) were sprayed when the chickweed had only one to two pairs of leaves. Control of emerged plants at this location was good with all treatments except cyanazine/MCPA, but chickweed that emerged after spraying created a problem. The lack of control of small chickweed seedlings with cyanazine/MCPA in this field trial was also noted in the greenhouse experiment.

Crop injury was not observed closely because of the unevenness of the crop stand. A slight yellowing of the crop that later disappeared, was observed on some plots sprayed with metribuzin, linuron/metribuzin, cyanazine/MCPA, A5633/MCPA (1979 only) and propanil/MCPA.

Metribuzin and DPX 4189 provided excellent control of chickweed plants present at spray time and also controlled later emerging seedlings. Linuron/MCPA, cyanazine/MCPA and A5633 alone or in combination with MCPA provided good control of plants present at spray time, but did not provide residual control. Cyanazine/MCPA did not control chickweed that had only one to two pairs of leaves at spray time.

- 91

Table IV.15 Control of Chickweed in a Wised Crop of Bonanza Barley and Park Wheat: Experiment 794

.

Treatment	Rate		-	Bar ley
• • •		SOLUTION	2 Dry Weight g/m <sup>2</sup>	Yield g/m²
Weedy control -		ð	20.4 .	350 ab
Linuron/MCPA <sup>2</sup>	0.2+0.8	8.3	1.0 Ь	309 a
DPX 4189	0.04 0.07	8.5 9.0	0.1 b 0 b	397 bc 416 bc
A5633 A5633/MCPA	0.8 0.6+0.3	7.5 7.8	1.0 b 0.8 b	427 bc 388 b
Metribuzin Metribuzin/MCPA	0.3 0.2+0.6	7.8 8.3	0.1 b 0 b	473 c 406 bc
Cyanazine/MCPA	0.3+0.6	7.5	0.6 b	368 <b>a</b> b
Dicamba/MCPA	0.1+0,4	2.5	25.6 á	391 bc
Propanil/MCPA	1.0+0.3	3.0	24.4 a -	410 bc

<sup>1</sup>Chickweed control was scored on a scale of 0 to 9.

<sup>2</sup>Sprayed 12 days later than other treatments as a result of application error.

<sup>3</sup>Numbers within column followed by the same letter are not significantly different at the 95% level according to Duncan's multiple range test.

12

92,

- 12 m

Table IV. 16 Control of Chicksped in Gateway Barley: Experiment 80A

4

۰, ...**\*** 

A DE MARKET AND AND A DE MARKET

¥

-

93

J.s.

tak.

	Treatment	Rate		-la mont	
• . 5 •	```	kg/ha	Score July 24	Dry Weight g/m²	Yteld g/m²
. •	Weedy control		.0	137 22	342 a
	DPX 4189	0.02 0.04	9.0 9.0	0 e 0.2 e	348 a 390 a
	A5633/MCPA	0.6+0.3	7.8	51 cd	369 <b>a</b>
	Bromoxyn11/MCPA	0.3+0.5	4.8	96 b 71 c	339 a 371 a
	Cyanazine/MCPA_	0.3+0.6	7.3	74 bc	367 <b>a</b>
	Linuron/MCPA	0.3+0.6	6.5	72 bc	354 a
	Lin/metribuzin	0.2+0.1	8.0	36 d	347 a
•	Metribuzin	0.3	8.8	5 e ·	346 a
•		<b>n</b>			

'Chickweed control was scored on agscale of 0 to 9.

<sup>2</sup>Numbers within columns followed by the same letter are not significantly different at the 95% level according to Duncan's multiple range test.
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	<b></b>	*		•	
ire then t	Rate kg/ha :	Child Nearr Score July 10	Muand Muan Score Supt 3	Barlen Yield g	<b>***</b> *
Wwedy control	•	0		233 d2	-1
DPX 4189	0.02	7.5 9.0	3.3	204 C 217 cd	
A5633/NCPA	0.6+0.3	7.8	1.5	326 abg	
Bromoxyni 1/MCPA	0.3+0.5 0.3+1.0	<b>6</b> .8 7.8	2.5	374 E 323 dbc	
Cyanazine/MCPA	0.3+0.6	3.0	1.0	297 c	
Linuron/MCPA	0.3+0.6	7.3	3.0	<b>288</b> c	
Lin/metribuzin	0.2+0.1	8.5	3.3	303 bc	•
Netribuzin	0.3	9.0	3.3	352 ab	•

Table IV. 17 Control of Chickweed in Conquest Barley: Experiment 808 3. S.

-**(**2)

1.20

The second second

ġ,

Б

t.

"Chickweed control was scored on diacale of 0 to 9.

"Numbers within columns followed by the same letter are not significantly different at the 95% level according to Duncan's multiple range test. Modewing in combingting with bigging it is provide the providence of the second second

 $\mathbf{r}$ 

## V. Discussion and Conclusions

Chickweed seed lost dormancy quickly when stored moist at 4°C. This condition exists in the field in early spring and fall so high germination could be expected following these periods. The optimum temperature for germination was 15 to 2010, but good germination was also observed at 10°C. In the spring, temperatures are rising and dormancy usually has been lost under the prevailing cool, moist conditions so it is not surprising that a germination peak is observed in the spring. High temperatures inhibit germination thus fewer seeds germinate during the summer. As temperatures drop there may again be a flush of germination in the fall. Fresh seeds produced during the summer are likely to be dormant. Cool, moist conditions suitable for dormancy loss are encountered in the fall, but the temperatures following that period are low and, therefore, it is unlikely that these seeds will germinate before spring.

Nitrate added to the soil at a rate equivalent to 60 or 250 kg/ha of N resulted in germination greater than 70% in a soil low in nitrate. This could be considered in a chickweed control program. If high rates of nitrogen were to be applied perhaps timing of the application could be used to encourage chickweed germination at a time when the seedlings could be controlled.

Field-grown plants flowered 40 days after emergence and pod and seed development was rapid. The plants appeared to

be dead by mid-July but new branches arose and the plants produced a second crop of seed in September. Chickweed is well adapted to a short growing season, but it parso able to take advantage of favorable conditions in th Its indeterminate flowering habit makes control of chickweed for prevention of seed production a concern throughout the growing season. Although it is not likely that chickweed will survive as a winter annual in northy central Alberta, it was able to survive and grow at freezing temperatures in the spring and fall, thus extending its season for seed production and enabling it to get an early start in the spring.

Chickweed is tolerant of low light intensities and, therefore, can be expected to produce seed even where plants are growing under a crop stand. As light intensity increases, branching and dry weight production increase and, therefore, seed production also will increase. This, combined with its preference for moist locations, may account for the success of chickweed in gardens where crops are grown in tows that allow good light penetration, and where water is applied regularly.

Chickweed growth was decreased with increasing temperature in a growth cabinet; however, a constant temperature in the growth cabinet would be comparable to considerably higher temperatures in the field where temperature fluctuations and shading would modify the effect. High temperature is not likely to be limiting for

chickweed growth in Alberta but it seems unlikely that the weed will spread into the southern part of the province as it does not adapt well to low soil moisture conditions.

In pot experiments, chickweed showed the ability to reduce barley yields, especially when it emerged 2 weeks before the barley. Under, common agronomic practices in north-central Alberta, weeds emerge at about the same time as the crop except in the case of winter annual crops which are not common in this area. Chickweed was not nearly as competitive when it emerged with the barley but increasing density increased its competitiveness. In many farmers' fields where chickweed is a problem, it emerges at very high densities and could, therefore, result in losses in barley yield. No field studies were undertaken, but observations of rapeseed in competition with heavy stands of chickweed **don**firmed that the weed could reduce yields of that crop in the field.

Wet conditions that prevent or delay spraying operations are ideal for chickweed growth and may result in crop yield losses where the weed is not controlled. Regrowth of chickweed in the fall can also cause mechanical problems in harvesting operations. If combining is delayed due to wet weather, such as in the last few years, chickweed will grow through the swaths and make it difficult to pick them up later.

Chickweed has become a serious problem to farmers in north-central Alberta in recent years. It is well adapted to

١

growth in this climate as the period from emergence to seed production is short and it is able to survive freezing temperatures. Chickweed does best in cool, moist locations so it is not likely to become a serious problem in southern Alberta, except possibly in irrigated fields. It does not survive as a winter annual in north-central Alberta and therefore its competitive ability is limited somewhat as it needs a head start for maximum competitiveness with barley.

## Bibliography

- 1. Alberta Weed Advisory Committee. Guide to Chemical Weed Control in Alberta. Alberta Agriculture, Agdex 100/641-1. 91pp.
- 2. Andersen, R.N. 1968. Germination and establishment of weeds for experimental purposes. W.F. Humphrey Press Inc., N.Y. 236pp.
- 3. Anon. Alberta Regulation 147/73 The Weed Control Act. 1973. Government of Alberta, Edmonton.
- 4. Anon. 1979. Guide to Chemical Weed Control in Alberta -Cereal and Dilseed Crops. Alberta Agriculture. 20pp.
- 5. Baskin, J.M. and C.C. Baskin. 1976. High temperature requirement for afterripening in seeds of winter annuals. New Phytol. 77:619-624.
- Baskin, J.M. and C.C. Baskin. 1979. Promotion of germination of Stellaria media seeds by light from a green safe lamp. New Phytol. 82:381-383.
- Bleasdale, J.K.A. 1960. Studies on plant competition. in J.L.Harper ed. The Biology of Weed's. Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford.
- 8. Clapham, A.R., T.G. Tutin and E.F. Warburg. 1952. Flora of the British Isles. University Press, Cambridge. 1591pp.
- 9. Collinson, A.S. 1977. Introduction to World Vegetation. George Allen and Unwin Publishers Ltd., London. 201pp.
- Corns, W.G. 1960. Effects of gibberellin treatments on germination of various species of weed seeds. Can. J. Plant Sc. 40:47-51.

11. Crockett, L.J. 1977. Wildly Successful Plants. Collier

Books, New York. 268pp.

12. Darlington, H.T. and G.P. Steinbauer. 1961. The 80 year period for Dr. Beal's seed viability experiment. Am. J. Bot. 48:321-325.

- 13. Dew, D.A. Personal communication.
- 14. Duer, I. 1973. Factors affecting the germination of seeds of Stellaria media under laboratory conditions. Pamietnik Pulawski 57:153-166. (from abstract 707, C.A.B. Weed Abstracts, 1975)
- 15. Egley, G.H. and J. M. Chandler. 1978. Germination and viability of weed seeds after 2.5 years in a 50 year buried seed study. Weed Sci. 26:230-239.
- 16. Elliot, H. 1980. Medicinal herbs of Alberta. Alberta Magazine 1:21-25.
- 17. Fawcett, R.S. and F.W. Slife. 1978. Effects of field applications of nitrate on weed seed germination and dormancy. Weed Sci. 26:594-596.
- 18. Foglefors, H. 1972. The development of some weed species under different conditions of light, and their competitive ability in barley stands. 13th Swedish Weed Conference pp. F4-F5.
- Foglefors, H. 1977. The competition between barley and five weed species as influenced by MCPA treatment.
  Swedish J. Ag. Res. 7:147-151.
- 20. Gibson, D.I. and A.D. Courtney. 1977. Effects of Poa trivialis, Stellaria media and Rumex obtusifolius on growth of Lolium perenne in the glasshouse. Ann. Appl. Biol. 86:105-110.
- 21. Holm, L.G., D.L. Plucknett, J.V. Pancho and J.P. Herberger. 1977. The World's Worst Weeds -Distribution and Biology. University of Hawaii & Press, Honolulu. 609pp.

- 22. Holm, L.G., J.V. Pancho, J.P. Herberger and D.L. Plucknett. 1979. A Geographical Atlas of World Weeds. John Wiley and Sons, New York. 391pp.
- 23. King, L.J. 1966. Weeds of the World : Biology and Control. Plant Sci. Monogr. Interscience Publishers Inc., New York, 526pp.
- 24. Komatsu, A. 1970. Ecological studies of Stellaria media and S. neglecta. Mem. Fac. of Sci. Kyoto U. Series of Biol. 3:13-21.
- 25. Kozhevnikova, S. and L. Makhaeva. 1974. The germination biology of seeds of overwintering weeds. Botanicheskii Zhurnal 59:1059-1062. (from abetract 3032, C.A.B. Weed Abstracts, 1975)
- 26. Lawson, H.M. 1972. Weed competition in transplanted spring cabbage. Weed Res. 12:254-267.
- 27. Mann, H.H. and T.W. Barnes. 1950. The competition between barley and certain weeds under controlled conditions. IV. Competition with Stellaria media. Ann. Appl. Biol. 37:139-148.
- 28. Moss, E.H. 1959. Flora of Alberta. University of Toronto Press, Toronto. 546pp.
- **29.** Ohwi, J. 1965. Flora of Japan. Smithsonian Institution, Washington, D.C. 1067pp.

efficiency of weeds and cereal crops. Can. J. Res. 10:77-94.

31. Portock, B.M. 1972, Effects of environment after sowing viability. In E.H. Roberts ed. Viability of S. Chapman and Hall Ltd., London.

32. Roberts, E.H. 1972 Dormancy: a factor affecting seed senvine in the soil. in E.H. Roberts ed. Viability of Sente: Crimman and Hall Ltd., London.

- 33. Roberts, H.A. and P.M. Feast. 1973. Emergence and A longevity of seeds of annual weeds in cultivated and undisturbed soil. J. Appl. Ecol. 10:133-143.
- 34. Roberts, H.A. and P.M. Lockett. 1975. Germination of buried and dry stored seed of *Stellaria media*. Weed Res. 15:199-204.
- 35. Roberts, H.A. and M.E. Ricketts. 1979. Quantitative relationships between weed flora after cultivation and the seed population in the soil. Weed Res. 19:269-275.
- 36. Sagar, G.R. 1968. Factors affecting the outcome of competition between crops and weeds. Proc. British Weed Contr. Conf. 9:1157-1162.
  - 37. Salisbury, E. 1974. The variations in the reproductive organs of *Stellaria media* (sensu stricto) and allied species with special regard to their frequency and prevalent modes of pollination. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B 185:331-342.
  - 38. Salisbury, F.B. and C.W. Ross. 1978. Plant Physiology, 2nd edition. Wadsworth Publishing Company Inc., Belmont, CA. 422pp.
- <sup>\*</sup> 39. Schimpf, D.J. and I.G. Palmblad. 1980. Germination response of weed seeds to soil nitrate and ammonium with and without simulated overwintering. Weed Sci. 28:190-193.
  - 40. Scoggan, H.J. 1973. Flora of Canada Part 3. National Museums of Canada, Ottawa. 1171pp.
  - 41. Scott, R.K., S.F. Wilcockson and F.R. Moisey. 1979. The effects of time of weed removal on yield of sugar beet. J. Agr. Sci., Camb. 93:693-709.
  - 42. Szczawinski, A.F. and N.J. Turner. 1978. Edible Garden Weeds of Canada. National Museums of Canada, Ottawa. 184pp.

- 43. Taylorson, R.B. 1970. Changes in dormancy and viability of weed seeds in soils. Weed Sci. 18:265-269.
- 44. Taylorson, R.B. 1972. Phytochrome controlled changes in dormancy and germination of buried weed seeds. Weed Sci. 20:417-422.
- 45. Taylorson, R.B. and S.B. Hendricks. 1977. Dormancy in seeds. Ann. Rev. Plant Physiol. 28:331-354.
- 46. Thurston, J.M. 1960. Dormancy in weed seeds. In J.L. Harper ed. The Biology of Weeds. Blackwell Scientific Publications. Oxford.

47. Toole, E.H. and E. Brown. 1946. Final results of the Duvel buried seed experiment. J. Ag. Res. 72:201-210.

5

48. Turkington, <sup>®</sup>R., N.C. Kenkel and G.D. Franko. 1980. The biology of Canadian weeds. 42. Stellaria media (L.) Vill. Can. J. Plant Sc. 60:981-992.

49. Walkey, D.G.A. and J. Cooper. 1976. Growth of Stellaria media: Capsella burse-pastoris and Senecio vulgaris plantlets from cultured meristem tips. Plant Sci. Letters 7:179-186.

- 50. Welbank, P.J. 1963. A comparison of competitive effects of some common weed species. Ann. Appl. Biol. 51:107-125.
- 51. Wesson, G. and P.F. Wareing. 1969. The role of light in the germination of naturally occurring populations of buried weed seeds. J. Expt. Bot. 20:402-413.

52. Wesson, G. and P.F. Wareing. 1969. The induction of light sensitivity in weed seeds by burial. J. Expt. Bot. 20:414-425.

53. Whithead, F.H. and R.P. Sinha. 1967. Taxonomy and taximetrics of *Stellaria media* (L.) Vill., *S. neglecta* Weihe and *S. pallida* (Dumort.) Pire. New Phytol. 66:769-784.

54. Wiese, A.F. and C.W. Vandiver. 1967. Soil moisture effects on the competitive ability of weeds. Weed Sci. 18:518-519.

•

.

**о**.

.

.

 $\mathcal{J}_{i}$ 

105

.